

A Review on Peanuts Resistance to Aspergillus flavus and Prospects in Susceptibility Genes-Mediated Resistance

by

Teresa de Vasconcellos e Souza

A Review on Peanuts Resistance to *Aspergillus flavus* and Prospects in Susceptibility Gene-Mediated Resistance

by

Teresa de Vasconcellos e Souza (Reg. No. 970711-852-110)

MSc. Thesis

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Plant Sciences in Plant Breeding



Wageningen University and Research

December 2023

Study program	MSc Plant Sciences – Plant Breeding and Genetic Resources
Course code	PBR-80436
Number of credits	36
Thesis period	April 25 th 2023 – December 14 th 2023
Supervisors	Prof. Dr. Yuling Bai
Examiner	Prof. Dr. Yuling Bai
	Prof. Dr. Richard GF Visser

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Yuling Bai for her supervision, motivation, and comprehension throughout the entire process of this thesis.

I am also immensely thankful to my Study advisor Dr. Cindy Schoelitsz-ten Broeke for her guidance, continuous encouragement, and thoughtfulness during the progress of my Master's.

Finally, I would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to my family, friends, and Francisco, without whom I could not have undertaken this journey.

Table of Contents

Sum	mary5
1)	Background
1.	1) Aspergillus flavus life cycle and infection
1.	2) Pathogenicity in other crops
1.	3) Factors influencing A.flavus infection and Aflatoxin contaminations – control strategies9
2)	A.flavus genomics and Aflatoxin biosynthesis – Genetic Regulation12
3)	Peanuts' Resistance to A. flavus Infection and Aflatoxin Contamination
3.	1) Constitutive components in peanut shells and seed coats associated with resistance
3.	2) Induced defence mechanisms16
4)	Genetics and molecular bases of peanut resistance to A.flavus
4.	1) Quantitative Trait Locus (QTL) Mapping
4.	2) Functional genomics
4.	3) Host-induced gene silencing, RNA interference and overexpression studies23
5)	The potential of Susceptibility genes in Resistance Breeding
5.	1) Identification and modification of plant susceptibility genes
5.	2) Advantages and disadvantages27
5.	3) Candidate Susceptibility Genes28
6)	Discussion
	Proposed Research Framework
7)	Supplement material
8)	Bibliography42

Summary

This study encompasses a review of the existing literature on peanut resistance to *Aspergillus flavus* and explores the potential of manipulating susceptibility genes as a resistance breeding strategy. Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea L.*) ranks among the world's most economically significant oilseed crops. However, the profitability and safety of peanut production are severely hampered by aflatoxin contamination, caused by the fungal pathogen *Aspergillus flavus*. To address this issue, the paper commences with a chapter dedicated to the pathogen, covering aspects such as *A. flavus* life cycle, pathogenicity, factors influencing its growth, and aflatoxin contamination, along with suggested control strategies. So far, traditional methods for disease management and aflatoxin control have demonstrated limited success. Moreover, it features a section dedicated to the genomic regulation of the pathogen, including the regulation of aflatoxin biosynthesis.

The subsequent chapter explores peanut resistance, underlining the molecular mechanisms researchers have sought to decipher in the context of peanut resistance to *A. flavus* and aflatoxin contamination. Various methodologies have been explored in this regard, and consequently, different studies have identified three distinct mechanisms of resistance: 1) *in-vitro* seed colonization resistance (IVSC); 2) resistance to pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination (PAC); and 3) resistance to aflatoxin production following infection (AP). Thus far, the most feasible method of reducing or eliminating *A. flavus* infection and subsequent aflatoxin accumulation is by growing resistant peanut varieties, and while progress has been made in this matter, achieving complete immunity remains an ongoing challenge.

Furthermore, this paper provides an overview of six separate studies that collectively identified 43 quantitative trait loci (QTLs), including four major QTLs linked to *A. flavus* resistance and ten major QTLs associated with aflatoxin contamination. In addition, a concise summary is presented of studies examining single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and candidate genes associated with peanut resistance to the aflatoxin-producing fungus. Also, a section describing successful applications of host-induced gene silencing (HIGS), RNA interference (RNAi) and overexpression against the pathogenic fungi and aflatoxin is included.

Despite the progress achieved, further research is needed to better understand the genetic basis of resistance and to develop effective strategies for managing *A.flavus* and aflatoxin contamination. In this context, this study includes a chapter dedicated to the potential of manipulating susceptibility genes—a strategy that has gained growing attention as an alternative approach to conferring durable resistance and ensuring the security of peanut cultivation. However, the identification and exploitation of susceptibility genes in peanuts are still in the early stages, with limited available

knowledge, as elucidated in chapter (5.3). So far, various research proposals have been put forth regarding candidate susceptibility factors, including annexins, syntaxins, calmodulin, 9-cis-epoxy carotenoid dioxygenase and two *mildew resistance locus O* (*MLO*). However, there have been no instances of genetic manipulation studies and functional analysis conducted on these yet. Additionally, a recent study characterized two salicylic acid (SA) SA hydroxylase genes (*AhS5H1* and *AhS5H2*) as the first S genes in peanuts. Also, the Ethylene Responsive TF *ABR1*, a repressor of the ABA signaling pathway, has been reported to confer resistance against pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination. Based on the gathered information, it can be suggested that there is a potential for S gene-mediated resistance in peanuts. However, further research and genome-wide mining of susceptibility genes are warranted to fully understand and validate this approach.

1) Background

The Arachis genus, native to South America, is composed of around 80 diploid geocarpic species, characterized by the growth of aerial flowers and subterranean fruit, that allow them to thrive in harsh environments. These species are classified into nine taxonomic sections [1] [2] and among them, the allotetraploid (2n = 4x = 40) *Arachis hypogaea L*. is one of the most important oil and legume crops grown widely [3]. Commonly known as cultivated peanut or groundnut, this species with an AABB genomic constitution and a total genome size of~2.8 Gb [4], is believed to be derived from a recent hybridization event between two diploid wild progenitors, *Arachis duranensis* (AA genome) and *Arachis ipaensis* (BB genome) [5].

Aspergillus flavus is a saprophytic soil-borne fungus that belongs to the phylum Ascomycota and is placed under the family Trichocomaceae of the order Eurotiales within the class Eurotiomycetes [6]. *A. flavus* is closely related to *A. parasiticus,* and they often infect the same crops, including peanuts, maize, cotton and other oilseeds. During pathogenesis, both fungi produce potent mycotoxins named aflatoxins, that pose severe health risks to both humans and animals. There are four major types of aflatoxins (B₁, B₂, G₁ and G₂), however, toxigenic strains of *A. flavus* typically produce only types B1 and B2, whereas *Aspergillus parasiticus* can produce all four [7]. Moreover, aflatoxins are the product of a complex polyketide pathway, involving at least 27 enzymatic reactions that are encoded by the "aflatoxin biosynthesis gene cluster". In turn, the expression of these genes is coordinated by two cluster-specific regulators: *aflR* and *aflS*, in addition to external stimuli, as will be discussed later [8].

The pathogen thrives in hot and humid agro-ecological environments and can contaminate peanuts during pre-harvest and post-harvest stages. Additionally, the fungal infection and aflatoxin contamination are enhanced by abiotic and biotic stress

factors, soil type as well and inadequate pre- and post-harvest processes/conditions [9], [10]. To date, the prevention of *A. flavus* infection in peanuts has been regarded as the best solution towards aflatoxin contamination [11]. As a result, considerable research efforts have been directed toward the development of aflatoxin-resistant peanut cultivars for disease management [12]. Nevertheless, progress has been challenging due to the intricate genetic nature of resistance: resistance is quantitative in nature, highly influenced by the environment (G × E interaction), has low heritability and there's a lack of reliable phenotyping protocols [13]. Still, progress has been made through quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping, which has enabled the discovery of numerous QTLs associated with resistance to *A. flavus* and aflatoxin. Likewise, various genomics, proteomics and metabolomics approaches have provided insights into a multitude of genes, proteins, and signalling molecules that play pivotal roles in peanuts' defence against *A. flavus* infection and aflatoxin contamination [13], [14].

1.1) Aspergillus flavus life cycle and infection

A. *flavus* persists in the soil, where it can endure for up to three years, in the form of either sclerotia or conidia, or it can reside within plant tissues as mycelia [15]. Soil movement and rain splash dispersal are the main contributors to below-ground infection. In this scenario, fungal spores infiltrate peanut seeds, initiating the establishment of mycelia that extend throughout the peanut shell, and seed coat, and eventually reach the cotyledon. The penetration process occurs through cracks on the seed coat and pod walls, often induced by mechanical injuries and/or abiotic stresses, such as heat and drought [16]. Furthermore, infection may also take place in the radicle and hypocotyl, which ultimately leads to the emerging seedlings' decay [17] and subsequent alterations in the plant's physiological responses, thereby diminishing the plant's inherent defence capacity against infection. Infected seedlings can be distinguishable by the presence of powdery clusters of yellow-green spores and shrivelled/ desiccated characteristics [18].

However, under favourable conditions, the sclerotia germinate to produce additional hyphae (later forms mycelium) or new conidia. The conidia serve as a new source of inocula that is dispersed into the environment through wind or insect-mediated pollination [9], increasing the population of *A. flavus* [15]. Once in contact with a new host plant, the pathogenic colonization is enhanced by favourable growth conditions, nutritional resources, and the presence of leaf-feeding insects, which either provide entry points or serve as vectors for the pathogen [9], [18]. Additional symptoms manifested in infected peanut plants include the development of necrotic lesions, chlorosis on the above-ground portions, as well as aflaroot – reduced/lack of development of secondary roots [18]. A visual representation of the *A. flavus* life cycle can be found in Figure 1.



Figure 1. a) Closeup of pod shells (a) and peanut kernels (b) showing symptoms of infection. c) shows sporulation (spore production) on the surface of the peanut. d) the life cycle of Aspergillus flavus in peanuts. Adapted from Alam, Tariq & Rustgi, Sachin & Anco, Daniel. (2020). Management of Aflatoxins in Peanut. Clemson University [9]

1.2) Pathogenicity in other crops

As an opportunistic pathogen and saprophyte, *A. flavus* has a broad host range. These fungi are predominantly found in fat-containing crops (peanuts, tree nuts) and oilseeds (cotton, sunflower, soybean, sesame), but are also frequently found in cereals (sorghum, barely, maize, rice and wheat) along with various spices (turmeric, coriander, ginger, black pepper and chilli) [10]. More recently, reports have emerged regarding their presence in various fruits and vegetables [20]. The occurrence of *A. flavus* has been comprehensively studied. Explicitly, under favourable environmental conditions and inadequate storage conditions, the pathogen has been noted to thrive and produce aflatoxin in nearly all types of crop seeds. Plus, *A. flavus* is also known to cause opportunistic infections in immunocompromised humans and animals [6], [21]

In peanuts, *A. flavus* causes a seedling disease known as yellow mould of seedlings or aflaroot [22]. This disease leads to the deterioration of emerging seedlings, primarily caused by the rapid infection of the radicle and hypocotyl [17], [22], consequently reducing seed viability and germination rates [23]. While the infection can extend throughout the entire plant, it is noteworthy that the stems and roots, particularly those in close proximity to the soil, are more frequently affected than the leaves and petioles compared to the leaves and petioles [24].

In corn, *A. flavus* is responsible for one of the most common fungal diseases known as Aspergillus ear rot [25], [26]. The symptoms resemble the ones observed in peanuts, yellow-green mould patches that appear powdery on the kernels. *A. flavus* sclerotia in soil and mycelia act as primary inoculum for infection and are brought to the surface of

developing seeds by insects and wind, leading to infection of ears through the silks [27]. Once the conidia germinate in the ear, it rapidly progresses to the glumes until reaching and colonizing the kernels [28].

In cotton, the aflatoxigenic fungus causes boll rot, a yellow spot disease that affects the fibers affecting cotton quality [29]. The process through which *A. flavus* contaminates cottonseeds remains unclear and literature is scarce. It is suggested that initially, pathogenicity is associated with damages to developing bolls and partial suture opening; followed by mature cotton exposure to high humidity and temperature during pre- and post-harvest stages [30]. Moreover, experimental studies suggest that the fungus could enter seedlings, flowers and developing bolls early in the season and affect bolls maturing in late August/September [31].

Lastly, numerous researchers have documented instances of *A. flavus* infection and aflatoxin contamination in red chilli peppers worldwide [32]. These peppers are mainly cultivated in warm semi-arid regions characterized by high temperatures and humidity conditions that are conducive to fungal infections and subsequent aflatoxin contamination [33], which occurs in pre- and post-harvest stages [34]. Nevertheless, the precise mechanisms underlying aflatoxin contamination in chilli peppers have yet to be thoroughly explored, and more investigation is required to elucidate the infection process. Similar concerns extend to the contamination of fruits and vegetables.

1.3) Factors influencing *A.flavus* infection and Aflatoxin contaminations – control strategies

Before the **harvest**, the presence of *A. flavus* and aflatoxin contamination is subject to an array of factors, including meteorological conditions, soil composition and biome, agricultural practices, and the production of phytoalexins [35]–[37].

a. Environmental conditions

High temperatures coupled with drought have long been recognized as basic variables for aflatoxin contamination in peanuts [12], [38]–[40]. This set of factors is known to affect plants' physiology and subsequently make them more susceptible to infections. For instance, Dorner et al. (1989) noted that phytoalexins are inhibited by drought stress and that in immature peanuts, aflatoxin contamination did not occur until the antimicrobial compound production ceased in drought-stressed plants [41]. Additionally, drought stress increases proline production in plants [42], which has been reported to enhance aflatoxin occurrence [43].

Various studies have also demonstrated that both temperature and water activity levels exert an influence on the growth rate of *A. flavus* as well as the expression of genes involved in aflatoxin biosynthesis and regulation [44]–[46]. The occurrence of *A. flavus*

and aflatoxin contamination has been observed across a wide spectrum of temperatures (T) (ranging from 12 to 48°C) and water activity (a_w) values (ranging from 0.86 to 0.96) [47], [48]. However, fungal occurrence is not conducive at temperatures below 25 °C and above 37 °C, whereas at $a_w < 0.85$ their progression is slowed, and ceases at values between 0.70 and 0.75 a_w [49], [50]. Furthermore, Schmidt-Heydt et al., (2010) showed that T × a_w interactions influence the expression of *aflS/aflR* - two pivotal regulatory genes in the aflatoxin biosynthesis pathway. Namely, the ratio of expression of aflS:aflR was higher when high amounts of aflatoxin were produced. Subsequently, Yu et al., (2011) demonstrated that higher temperature or water activity levels were associated with the down-regulation of *all:aflS and of laeA*. In *A. flavus, laeA* is required to produce aflatoxin [21] and its deletion may result in the absence of sclerotia production [52].

b. agricultural practices

Improper agricultural practices play a vital role in the infection cycle of *Aspergillus* inoculum in the field [53].

1. Irrigation

Studies have shown that optimum irrigation will reduce fungal infection and aflatoxin contamination in peanuts, as well as in maize [39], [54]–[57]. As it was mentioned before, field contamination by aflatoxin is associated with high temperatures and drought stress, therefore, a well-timed irrigation system, which reduces drought stress and soil temperatures is recommended [9]. Plus, the water used for irrigation is suggested to be of suitable quality for the intended use [58]

2. Insect Management

As previously mentioned, the damage caused by insects to plant tissue is associated with the occurrence of *A. flavus* infection and aflatoxin contamination, as it provides entry points for the fungus or serves as a vector to infect healthy plants [18]. Hence, surveillance and the use of insecticides, pesticides and insect-resistant cultivars are advised to mitigate insect damage and control fungal growth and subsequent aflatoxin production [59].

It is worth noting that the use of bio- and chemical control agents poses the risk of generating fungal-resistant strains; potential contamination- affecting food safety; acting as a source of environmental pollution - toxic residues and undesirable biological effects; besides being time-consuming and costly [60], [61]. Nevertheless, various studies have reported their success in repressing aflatoxin contamination [62]–[64]. For instance, Bowen and Mack (1993) showed that peanuts treated with insecticide larvae of *Elasmopalpus lignosellus* had a lower level of *A. flavus* infection [65]. Likewise, peanuts treated with *A. flavus* NRRL 21882, a pesticide active ingredient, were shown to contain lower amounts of aflatoxin than untreated crops, via outcompeting and displacing *A. flavus* [66]. Lastly, transgenic peanuts containing the Bt (*Bacillus*)

thuringiensis) gene exhibited lower levels of aflatoxin than non-Bt peanuts in preliminary analysis of log-changed information [18], [59].

3. Weed management and crop rotation

A.flavus has a wide range of host plants. Hence, an effective strategy to break the pathogen growth entails proper management of weeds (that may act as alternate hosts); disposal and management of crop residues; as well as selection of suitable non-host rotation crops, like sweet potato, to minimize the rate of between-season survival of pathogenic species [35], [67]. For instance, Abrahan et al. (2016) assessed the effect of crop rotation on groundnuts and showed its effectiveness in reducing aflatoxin contamination levels [68]. In addition, it is important to take into account the significance of planting conditions. For instance, in semi-arid environments favourable to *A. flavus*, the practice of crop rotation may have little to no impact on fungal activity [58].

c. Soil composition

As a repository of microorganisms, the soil stands as the primary source of infection for *A. flavus* [9]. The aflatoxigenic fungus has been isolated from soils across various major biomes and climate zones, but it exhibits a higher prevalence in regions characterized by warm temperatures [18]. Furthermore, the composition of the soil plays a pivotal role in *A. flavus* proliferation. Light sandy soils, particularly in dry conditions, have been observed to favour the growth of *A. flavus*, in contrast to heavier soils with greater water-holding capacity, which tend to reduce aflatoxin contamination [12], [53]. On top of that, the presence of other fungi in the soil, such as Penicillium and Fusarium species, has been shown to mitigate aflatoxin contamination, possibly due to competitive inhibition [69]. Lastly, the application of lime, calcium, farmyard manure and residues from cereal crops to the soil has been shown to reduce aflatoxin contamination in groundnuts by 50% to 90%. This reduction can be attributed to calcium's role in fortifying the peanut cell wall, creating a physical and biochemical barrier. Additionally, farmyard manure helps provide optimal growth conditions for various beneficial microorganisms, which play a crucial role in suppressing soil infections[35], [70].

During **harvest**, practices such as digging and threshing, which can result in mechanical damage to peanut pods, enhance the susceptibility to *A.flavus* contamination [35], [59]. Hence, safe harvesting procedures to avoid damage and contamination to peanuts should be implemented; and all the equipment and machinery employed in the harvesting process should undergo thorough cleaning and maintenance to ensure they do not serve as potential sources of contamination [58]. Moreover, harvesting before optimum maturity or a delay in harvesting also exerts an influence on A. flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination. Immature plants are predominantly more susceptible to the fungus infection, whereas a delay in harvest provides an opportunity for *A. flavus* to produce aflatoxin [6], [38], [39].

In turn, **post-harvest** management mainly focuses on mitigating aflatoxin contamination [35] as the compound is challenging to eliminate once *A.flavus* infection occurs [16], [35]. Therefore, post-harvest management strategies fall to create an environment that is non-conductive for infection and to avoid proliferation [9].

a. Separation of healthy/infected pods

Prior to storage, the removal of aflatoxin-contaminated seeds plays a pivotal role in minimizing aflatoxin levels during post-harvest phases [63]. This is achieved through either manual or electronic colour sorting, targeting discoloured peanuts, which are indicative of shelled peanuts infected by *A.flavus* [64], [71] as well as damaged, shrivelled, misshaped seeds/pods [9].

b. Storage and transportation conditions

Generally, contamination is largely due to improper handling of the drying, storage, and transport conditions that contribute to mould formation [6]. Namely, aflatoxin contamination occurs when pod moisture levels are above 8% and the temperature is over 25 °C. Hence, to keep an expansion in aflatoxin occurring during storage and transportation, it is essential to maintain moisture and temperature levels below that which will enhance growth [18]. For such, it is recommended to dry the pods to set moisture content and place them in clean non-contaminated storage containers [16], [58].

2) A.flavus genomics and Aflatoxin biosynthesis – Genetic Regulation

A. flavus genome has already been sequenced, and a complete genome microarray is available and has been used to study the genetic regulation of aflatoxin biosynthesis [72]. The genome size of the aflatoxin-producing fungus is expected to be approximately 36 Mega base pairs (Mb), organized in 8 chromosomes, with about 12,197 predicted genes. Moreover, the *A. flavus* genome has been described to be compacted with less duplicated sequences or multiple copies of genes [21], [49], [72].

As one of the most toxic and carcinogenic secondary metabolites, significant efforts have been made to better understand the biochemistry, genetics, and regulation of aflatoxin biosynthesis [8], [21], [72], [73]. Aflatoxins are produced by a complex and highly regulated polyketide pathway [74], that involves at least 27 enzymatic reactions with several bioconversion steps. Currently, the generally accepted AFB1 aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway is as follows: acetate \rightarrow polyketide \rightarrow norsolorinic acid (NOR) \rightarrow averantin (AVN) \rightarrow 5'-hydroxy-averantin (HAVN) \rightarrow oxoaverantin (OAVN) \rightarrow averufin (AVF) \rightarrow hydroxyversicolorone (HVN) \rightarrow versiconal hemiacetal acetate (VHA) \rightarrow Versiconol acetate (VOAc) \rightarrow versiconal (VOH) \rightarrow versiconal (VAL) \rightarrow versicolorin B (VERB) → versicolorin A (VERA) → demethylsterigmatocystin (DMST) → sterigmatocystin (ST) → O-methylsterigmatocystin (OMST) → 11- Hydroxy-O-methylsterigmatocystin (HOMST) → aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) [8]. For more information on the genes involved in the major conversion steps from early precursors to aflatoxins and their functions, please refer to Caceres et al. (2020). *Aflatoxin Biosynthesis and Genetic Regulation: A Review*. Toxins (Basel).

To date, about 30 genes involved in aflatoxin biosynthesis have been identified which are grouped in the "aflatoxin biosynthesis gene cluster", within a 75-kilobyte (kB) region on chromosome 3's subtelomeric locus in the fungal genome [21], [75]. All these genes exhibit a consistent regulatory pattern, and their expression levels can directly affect the level of aflatoxin biosynthesis [73]. Moreover, these aflatoxin biosynthesis pathway genes are mainly symbolized by a three-letter code "afl" followed by a capital letter from "A" to "Y", characterizing each individual gene involvement [72]. Some notable examples of genes within the aflatoxin biosynthesis cluster include the nor-1 and ver-1 genes, responsible for the production of key intermediates. The aflD (nor-1) gene is responsible for the conversion of norsolorinic acid (NOR) to averantin (AVN), and the ver-1 (aflE) gene encodes versicolorin reductase, which catalyzes the conversion of versicolorin A to versicolorin B. Moreover, aflP (omtA) codes for an O-methyltransferase that methylates versicolorin B to produce demethylsterigmatocystin. Other genes, such as aflK, aflN, aflM, aflX and aflL are involved in the formation of different precursors during the polyketide synthesis, that serve as substrate reactions for aflatoxin synthesis [8], [75].

The expression of the aflatoxin biosynthesis pathway genes is coordinated by two cluster-specific regulators: aflR and aflS. These two genes, located adjacent to each other within the cluster, are divergently transcribed and have independent promoters. However, the region between the *aflR* and *aflS* is relatively short, and they may share binding sites for transcription factors or other regulatory elements [73], [76]. The aflR gene encodes a sequence-specific DNA-binding protein with a binuclear zinc cluster (Zn(II)2Cys6), required for the transcriptional activation of other genes involved in the biosynthetic pathway, thus acting as a positive regulator. Notably, overexpression of aflR has been demonstrated to result in a 50-fold increase in aflatoxin production [77], whereas deleting aflR in A. flavus suppresses the expression of aflatoxin pathway genes [78]. In addition, the application of different inhibitors of aflatoxin production has been shown to effectively reduce the expression of aflR [79]. As for the aflS gene, its precise role in aflatoxin biosynthesis remains unclear [73]. However, overexpression of aflS in A. flavus has been observed to result in higher levels of aflatoxin production, thus acting as an enhancer [80]. Besides, Chang P.K (2003) observed that aflS binds to aflR in A. parasiticus and argues that aflS modulates aflatoxin expression through its interaction with *afIR* [76].

Additionally, aflatoxin as a secondary metabolite, is co-regulated with fungal development. Numerous regulatory factors that govern fungal development have been identified, and some of them control genes involved in aflatoxin production. For instance, Cary et al. (2017) reported that the disruption of the hbx1 gene resulted in the loss of production of sclerotia, conidiophores, conidia, and aflatoxin. Subsequently, down-regulation in the expression levels of aflatoxins biosynthetic genes (aflM, aflD, afIC), regulatory gene (afIR), conidiophores biogenesis genes (flbA, flbC, flbD, and flbE) and conidiation regulatory pathway genes (brlA and wetA) was observed [81] [82]. The transcription factors NsdC and NsdD have also been reported as essential for the production of asexual sclerotia, normal aflatoxin biosynthesis, and conidiophore development in A. flavus [83], [84]. Research conducted by Zu et al. (2020) found that A. flavus cta1 deletion mutant resulted in a down-regulation of the expression levels of aflQ, aflC, and aflD, showing that cta1 plays an important role in aflatoxin biosynthesis in A. flavus [85]. Moreover, two APSES transcription factors, AfRafA and AfStuA, have been recognized for their roles in aflatoxin synthesis, fungal development and consequently pathogenicity [86]. Additionally, Wang et al. (2020) suggested that basic leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factor AflRsmA could regulate sclerotium formation, oxidative stress response, and aflatoxin biosynthesis in A. flavus [87]. The AflSkn7 transcription factor has also been discovered to influence morphogenesis, pathogenicity, aflatoxin production, and stress response in A. flavus [88]. Hu et al. (2018) discovered that the plant homeodomain (PHD) transcription factor Rum1 regulates morphogenesis and aflatoxin biosynthesis A. flavus [89]. In addition, Yuan et al. (2019) observed a notable decrease in aflatoxin, conidia, and conidiophore production with the deletion of the hexA gene, while the deletion of sakA resulted in reduced mycelial growth and increased sclerotia and aflatoxin production [90]. Another study discovered that deletion of *aflPex5* was found to cause defects in sporulation, sclerotia formation, aflatoxin biosynthesis, stress response, and crop infection [91]. Similarly, the nucleoside diphosphate kinase (Aflndk) role in sclerotia production and conidia development in A. flavus was also shown using gene-knockout [92]. It has also been revealed that gene knockout experiments of either VeA or laeA genes (Velvet complex) resulted in loss of aflatoxin and sclerotium production [93]–[95]. Plus, deletion of hamF, hamG, hamH, hamI, showed near identical phenotypes to laeA mutants sclerotia loss and reduced aflatoxin synthesis [96]. And lastly, Spc105, interaction partner of LaeA, has also been shown to be required for normal conidiophore development and sclerotia production of A. flavus [97].

Finally, aflatoxin regulatory mechanisms are also triggered by exposure to environmental changes, nutrient sources, as well as oxidative stress response. Ultimately, these elements have the capacity to activate various cell signaling pathways, therefore modulating the expression of genes responsible for aflatoxin synthesis [8], [31]. Hence, a comprehensive understanding of the genetic mechanisms underlying

aflatoxin production and external stimuli enables researchers to devise effective strategies to control fungal toxicity.

3) Peanuts' Resistance to *A. flavus Infection and Aflatoxin* Contamination

Over the years, researchers have tried to understand the mechanisms underlying peanuts' resistance to A.flavus infection and the subsequent prevention of aflatoxin contamination. This resistance is a multifaceted trait that involves several aspects. Similarly to maize, peanuts' resistance to A.flavus and aflatoxin contamination is a sum of three different mechanisms: 1) in-vitro seed colonization resistance (IVSC); 2) resistance to pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination (PAC); and 3) resistance to aflatoxin production following infection (AP) [98], [99]. Overall, resistance to a pathogen is determined by a plant's genetic makeup and it can be due to a single gene in the host plant (monogenic) or to more than one gene (polygenic). Peanuts 'resistance to A. flavus is quantitative in nature, meaning it involves the interaction of multiple genes, making it challenging to breed for. In addition, it is genotype-specific, hence, resistance can vary among different peanut genotypes [13]. Lastly, it is highly influenced by Geneenvironment (G x E) interactions [48], [100]. Though the additive gene effect plays a more substantial role in resistance [48], the environment's influence on genotype performance leads to inconsistent phenotypic outcomes. This variability, in turn, limits the widespread utilization of germplasm [16]. On top of this, the absence of reliable phenotyping protocols also imposes a prevalent technical drawback that further complicates traditional peanut breeding efforts [101], [102].

3.1) Constitutive components in peanut shells and seed coats associated with resistance

The peanut shell and seed coat are key players in mitigating *A. flavus* infection [16]. Previous research has demonstrated that resistance to pod infection is primarily attributed to the structure of the pod shell [100], which serves as an initial physical defence mechanism against fungal infection [103]. As for the seed coat, being the outermost layer of peanut kernels, it acts as a physical and chemical barrier against *A. flavus* infection, [104] and its resistance is attributed to variations in its structure and composition [100]. In this context, various researchers have attempted to characterize features in peanut shells and seed coats relative to resistance. Respectively, LaPrade's research group suggested that resistance might be attributed to seed coat thickness and permeability [105]. Taber et al. (1973) revealed that kernels of resistant genotypes exhibited smaller hilum and a more compact arrangement of a palisade-like layer of testa compared to susceptible genotypes [106]. Later, Guimarães et al. (2012) noted that in wild peanut germplasm species, the pod shell and seeds are rich in lignin,

protecting against mechanical, biotic and abiotic stressors [107]. In addition, Liang et al., (2003) also indicated the physical-barrier role of wax and cutin layers of peanut seed coats in resistance to *A. flavus* infection[108].

Beyond physical properties, the presence of biochemical compounds has also been reported to confer A. flavus resistance. Various phenolic compounds (such as pcoumaric acid, ferulic acid, hydroxybenzoic acid, and chlorogenic acid), flavonoid compounds (notably epicatechin), and other chemical substances (such as guercetin and resveratrol) have been demonstrated to be present in peanut seed coats using Highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis [109], [110]. The role of phenolic compounds in inhibiting A. flavus growth has been well-documented and examined in various studies [111]–[113]. In addition, Tannins are secondary metabolites with known antioxidant and antimicrobial properties, that are deposited in seed coat cell walls to protect the seed form invading pathogens [104]. Lindsey and Turner (1975) demonstrated that the presence of Tannins in peanut testa inhibits the growth of A. flavus in vivo [114]. Similarly, Liang et al. (2003) and Turner et al. (1975) reported on trypsin and 5,7-dimethoxy isoflavone association with A. flavus resistance, respectively [115] [116]. More recently, Sharma et al. (2021) noted a strong association between pipecolic acid (Pip) accumulation with peanut seed resistance against A.flavus infection [117].

3.2) Induced defence mechanisms

When peanuts are infected, they activate their immune system, which involves two major layers of defence: pathogen-associate molecular patterns (PAMPs)-triggered immunity (PTI) and effector-triggered immunity (ETI). PTI is initiated when cell-surface pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) are activated by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). This triggers early resistance responses, including activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades, transcription of resistance-related genes, and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, among others. Meanwhile, ETI is triggered by the recognition of pathogen effectors by plant intracellular nucleotide-binding and leucine-rich repeat receptors (NLRs) and is often associated with localized programmed cell death [118], [119].

In a recent study by Cui et al. (2022), weighed gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA) and comparative transcriptomics of peanut genotypes (J11, R x Zhongua-12, S) led to the identification of various genes involved in *A. flavus* defence response. Namely, two highly expressed MAP kinases (*arahy. L410JY* and *arahy. BC5GM2*), along with Cytochrome P450, were identified during *A. flavus*-induced defense responses. Pattern recognition receptors (PRR) such as *RPVOD7* were discovered to induce peanut PTI by the recognition of *A. flavus* PAMPs. In addition, six NBS-LRR genes were identified

using High-throughput sequencing, and shown to be upregulated during A. flavus infection, suggesting their role in ETI. Serine threonine kinase (STK) arahy. D2YYPY, which recognizes A. flavus-released effectors, was also identified and associated with ETI responses [120]. The plant recognition and infection by A.flavus have also been reported to be facilitated by fungal oxylipins and pathogen elicitor molecules, while host oxylipins inhibit aflatoxin biosynthesis [6]. Jasmonic acid (JA), salicylic acid (SA) and ethylene signalling pathways are mediated by a dynamic network of transcription factors (TFs), like bZIP, WRKY, ERF, MYB, MYC, and NAC, [121], [122]. These TFs further serve as crucial regulators in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), Pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins, and Phytoalexins accumulation, that play major roles in resistance after infection [99], [122]–[124]. Respectively, the peanut-defence mechanism involves oxidative homeostasis in response to the accumulation of ROS upon A.flavus infection and drought stress [102], [125]. As shown by Liang et al. (2006), the outburst of ROS is accompanied by an increase of LOX (lipoxygenase) activity, which may cause changes in lipid peroxidation (oxylipins synthase), cell wall strengthening, phytoalexin synthesis and hypersensitive cell death in peanut seeds [126]. Additionally, higher expression of LOX has also been reported to induce signal molecules like JA, methyl JA, fatty acids and secondary metabolites that target pathogens [102], [127], [128]. The plant defence response also involves various pathogenesis-related proteins (PR) proteins, which have been reported as predominantly expressed in peanutresistant cultivars and associated with A. flavus resistance. For instance, Liang et al. (2001) and Dixon et al (2002) observed that Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL), and soluble glutathione transferases (GSTs), exhibited significantly higher levels in resistant peanut cultivars than in susceptible ones. Pal is a precursor of both lignin and phytoalexins, whereas GSTs under stress have peroxidase activity that protects the cells from oxidative injuries [129]. Similarly, Chitinase and β -1-3-glucanase were shown to exhibit higher levels in resistant peanut genotypes (GT-YY9 and GT-YY20) compared to susceptible genotypes (Georgia Green and A100) after A. flavus inoculation [130], [131]. β-1,3-glucanase in particular, can digest fungal cell walls and produce higher levels of elicitors both at transcript and protein level during *A.flavus* infection [99], [122]. Moreover, Phytoalexin like Resveratrol, are antibiotic secondary metabolite that have been shown to inhibit spore germination and hyphal extension of *A.flavus* [132]. Interestingly, under drought stress conditions, the levels of phytoalexin in peanut cultivars were observed to be reduced, which correlates with the increased susceptibility of drought-exposed peanuts to A. flavus infection [133]. Lastly, quercentin, an antioxidant flavonoid compound, has been shown to inhibit the proliferation of A.flavus, by repressing the expression of aflatoxin biosynthetic-related genes [134]. Please consult Table 2 for a concise overview of the transcriptomic and proteomic findings about important genes and pathways associated with aflatoxin contamination in peanuts.

4) Genetics and molecular bases of peanut resistance to A.flavus

The breeding of varieties with resistance to A. flavus infection has been a primary objective in peanut breeding programs and was recognized as the most cost-effective measure to mitigate aflatoxin contamination [135]. However, this pursuit often results in a bottleneck due to peanuts' narrow genetic diversity and understanding of genetics [11]. More precisely, the lack of desirable parental genotypes with stable and effective resistance levels [101]. Nonetheless, through screenings of peanut germplasms, breeders have found various genotypes with considerable resistance levels [13]. As mentioned previously, the resistance trait against A. flavus infection is genotypespecific, influenced by environmental conditions and quantitative in nature, making it challenging to breed for. Thus, resistance levels can be defined through a combination of methods and criteria. These include phenotypic assessment for signs of infection, as well as aflatoxin quantification and disease Incidence (percent seed infection index (PSII)) as described by Yu et al. (2019) [136]. In addition, researchers also make use of QTL analyses and Molecular markers to identify genomic regions and genes associated with resistance, followed up by functional genomic studies. This information not only provides valuable insights into the molecular mechanisms involved in peanut-pathogen interactions but also establishes a basis for more targeted and efficient breeding programs aimed at developing peanut varieties with enhanced resistance to A. flavus and aflatoxin production.

A well-known example of a peanut-resistant germplasm to *A. flavus* infection is the Indian commercial variety J11 [3]. J11 resistance was been reported to be related to drought stress, pod maturity [137] and seed coat integrity [138]. Through *in vitro* seed colonization (IVSC), J11 was first discovered by Mehan et al. (1981) to be resistant to *A.flavus*, and later to *Aspergillus parasiticus* by Kisyombe et al. (1985) [139], [140]. Subsequently, J11's stable resistance to *A.flavus* infection has been repeatedly proven in various studies [139], [141]. Transcriptomic and proteomic analyses led to the identification of 663 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) and 314 proteins (DEP) of peanut cultivar J11 as a result of *A. flavus* infection [142]. In another study, the RNA-seq approach was deployed to understand the host-pathogen interaction and 4,445 DEGs were identified in different combinations across four stages after inoculation in J11 and JL 24 (a susceptible genotype) [99]. Subsequently, genome-wide association (GWAS) studies along with quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping have been conducted to pinpoint specific genes and genomic regions associated with resistance to *A. flavus* infection.

4.1) Quantitative Trait Locus (QTL) Mapping

Liang et al. (2009) identified six QTLs associated with *A. flavus* infection in three independent RIL mapping populations (Yueyou 13 x Zhenzhuhei, Yueyou13 x Fu95-5 and

Yueyou13 x J-11) using an SSR-based genetic linkage map [143]. The un-named QTLs were not specified in the article, however, three were located on chromosomes A01, A02 and B05, respectively, and showed a phenotypic variation explained (PVE) > 10 %.

Yu et al. (2019) identified individual QTLs for the percent seed infection index (PSII) and the contents of aflatoxin AFB1 and AFB2 via a RIL population obtained from a cross of Zhonghua 10 (susceptible) × ICG 12625 (resistant), harvested from 3 environments. Transgressive segregation and continuous distribution in the RIL population for both PSII and aflatoxin contents suggest that both parents had favourable alleles for resistance to aflatoxin contamination. In total, 14 QTLs were identified and distributed on different chromosomes. The major QTL for pathogen infection -qPSIIA10 - was mapped on LG A10 and identified as consistent - repeatedly detected in two environments and explained 11.32-13% PVE. The major QTLs for resistance to aflatoxin production qAFB1A07 and qAFB1B06.1 were co-localized with qAFB2A07 and qAFB2B06 - exhibited major and stable effects across multiple environments with 9.32–21.02% PVE. Also, a strong interaction between resistance to the production of AFB1 and AFB2 was confirmed by conditional QTL mapping. Lastly, two major QTLS qAFB2B05 and qAFB2B07, were further exclusively detected in a single environment with 11.05-14.45% PVE. Genotyping of RILs revealed that qAFB1A07 and qAFB1B06.1 interacted additively to enhance the resistance to AFB1 and AFB2 accumulation. As a result, the author suggests the combination of the resistant alleles of these QTLs as an effective strategy for increasing peanut resistance against aflatoxin contamination [136]. Still, it is important to note that the loci responsible for aflatoxin resistance in peanuts have not been delimited in relatively small genomic intervals [144].

Meanwhile, Khan et al. (2020), identified two QTLs by utilizing SNP based genetic map using specific length amplified fragment sequencing (SLAF-Seq), on a RIL population obtained from a cross between Xinhuixiaoli (resistant) and Yueyou 92 (susceptible), during in-vitro seed colonization (IVSC). Respectively, major QTL qRAF-3-1 was mapped within 1.67 cM and explained 17.17% of PVE, while minor QTL qRAF-14-1 was located within 1.34 cM with 5.15% PVE (Table 3). QTL *qRAF-3-1* was located on A03 and had a positive additive effect, while qRAF-14-1 on B04 was found with a negative additive effect for the trait of resistance to A. flavus infection. Showing opposite additive effects, the two QTLs are supposedly derived from different parents. Hence, Xinhuixiaoli is regarded as the donor of the main QTL qRAF-3-1. Additionally, wide segregation in the RIL population against A. flavus infection was detected, which demonstrates transgressive segregation in resistance. Lastly, 67 and 137 candidate functional genes were discovered within the genomic regions of qRAF-3-1 and qRAF-14-1. Using microarray analysis, putative disease resistance RPP13-like protein 1 (RPP13), Pentatricopeptide repeat (PPR) proteins and LOX genes responded to A. favus infection and were proposed for further investigation towards A. *flavus* resistance in peanuts [145].

Additionally, Jiang et al. (2021) identified six QTLs for *A. flavus* infection resistance on chromosomes A05, A08, B01, B03, and B10 via a RIL population derived from a cross

between Zhonghua 16 (susceptible) × J11 (resistant). Major QTL *qPSIIA08* was detected in one environment with a PVE of 10.87%, whereas the stable QTL *qPSIIB10* was consistently detected in 4 years, showing 6.91–10.58% PVE. The positive additive effects of *qPSIIA05*, *qPSIIA08*, *qPSIIB01*, *qPSIIB03.a*, and *qPSIIB03.b* indicate that the favourable alleles were from J11 and confer resistance to infection. However, the favourable alleles of the stable QTL qPSIIB10 (with a negative additive effect), were from the susceptible parent Zhonghua 16. This suggests that susceptible germplasms might possess valuable loci for resistance against *A. flavus* infection, and so it is not the QTL, but its desirable allele, which needs to be selected for in breeding. Also, further analysis of the phenotypic effect of pyramiding QTLs was performed, and the results demonstrated that pyramiding all favourable alleles of the six major QTLs could significantly enhance resistance [3].

In continuity, Jin et al. (2023) detected eleven additive QTLs for aflatoxin production resistance via an RIL population with the same genotypes Zhonghua 16 (susceptible) × J11 (resistant). Three major QTLs on chromosomes A05, B05 and B06 were identified: qAFTB05.2 was only detected in one year with 9.90% PVE (≈10 PVE hence it was regarded as a major QTL); qAFTA05.1 was consistently detected in three years, showing 5.99–11.42% PVE; qAFTB06.3 was repeatedly detected in two years with 8.23–10.63% PVE. In addition, conditional QTL analysis was performed with conditional phenotypic values for Aflatoxin content and percent seed infection index (ATC|PSII). The results revealed that the major QTL qAFTB05.2 was not found in conditional mapping and the qAFTA05.1 decreased the additive effect compared to that of the unconditional QTL However, the additive effect of the major QTL *qAFTB06.3* was significantly higher than that of the unconditional QTL. Analysis of the phenotypic effect of pyramiding QTLs was also performed in this study, and the result suggests that pyramiding favourable alleles of major QTLs could decrease aflatoxin production. Respectively, the favourable alleles of *qAFTA05.1* and *qAFTB06.3* were from J11, whereas the favourable alleles of qAFTB05.2 were from Zhonghua 16 [146].

Lastly, Yu et al. (2023) identified four QTLs on A02, A07 and B07 for aflatoxin production resistance via a RIL population RIL population derived from the cross between Xuhua13 (susceptible) and Zhonghua 6 (resistant). Among them, one major QTL *qAFTsA07.1* was stably detected across three environments and could explain 13.39% of PVE. Fine mapping later revealed that the allele in *qAFTsA07.1* from Zhonghua 6 has a negative effect on aflatoxin content and confers resistance to aflatoxin production [144].

For a comprehensive summary of the data collected, please refer to the supplementary material– Table 1: *Bi-parental QTL mapping of genomic regions controlling aflatoxin contamination in peanuts*

4.2) Functional genomics

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have emerged as a powerful tool to detect markers (SNPs) closely associated with peanut resistance to Aspergillus flavus and aflatoxin contamination. A recent study Yu et al., (2020) identified two resistant accessions (Zh.h0551 and Zh.h2150) and 60 SNP (single nucleotide polymorphism) markers associated with aflatoxin production (AFB1 and AFB2) with 16.87%–31.70% PVE (Table 4). This was done through GWAS of 99 accessions of the Chinese peanut mini-mini core collection OCRI-CAAS, Wuhan, China. Interestingly, a total of 18 association peaks, distributed across 11 chromosomes were identified as associated with aflatoxin content in peanut seeds across different environments. Among these, 2 were linked to both AFB1 and AFB2, four were associated with AFB1 alone, and two were associated exclusively with AFB2. These findings suggest that the resistance to both AFB1 and AFB2 in peanut seeds largely share the same mechanism controlled by multiple genes. Moreover, two genes encoding a leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domain were identified in chromosome B01 in a 50 kb candidate genomic region of the SNP marker SNP19994. In the same genomic regions, also a gene encoding WRKY TF was identified. In plants, the LRR domain has been established to play a crucial role in the mechanism of plant disease resistance - serving as the initial line of defence against pathogens. Lastly, the SNP marker SNP02686, which exhibited the highest PVE for AFB2, also displayed an association with AFB1 in one environment (2017). This SNP was located 33.18 kb from the Aradu.WAPPM gene, which is predicted to encode ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY). This enzyme is responsible for generating cytosolic acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate, key substrates of the aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway [101].

Several SNP/InDel markers associated with aflatoxin resistance were also identified by GWAS. Ding et al. (2022) identified a total of 16 SNPs/InDels associated with three different resistances through GWAS using 99 accessions from the same Chinese peanut mini-mini core collection mentioned previously (Table 5). Namely, six SNPs/InDels associated with shell infection index (SLII) located on three chromosomes, five SNPs/InDels associated with seed infection index (SDII) distributed on four chromosomes, and five SNPs/InDels associated with aflatoxin content distributed on four chromosomes. The three resistances associated SNPs/InDels were distinctly located, which suggests that these traits might be controlled by different genes. Additionally, candidate genes Arahy.J7VJ5I and Arahy.7ML2J7 were located at the downstream of SNP21021 and upstream of InDel21071, respectively, and code MYB transcription factors. This is noteworthy since MYB transcription factors (TFs) are known to play important roles in regulating lignin biosynthesis. Also, the candidate genes Arahy.12GONV and Arahy.FTX6XU, for the synthesis of glycosyltransferase, were identified in the candidate interval labelled by In-Del21071. In some plants, glycosyltransferase function has been shown to promote lignification. Moreover, eighteen SDII-associated candidate genes were discovered for 2 SNPs and 2 InDels, while fifteen aflatoxin content associated candidate genes were

found for 2 SNPs and 2 InDels. *Arahy.R1ATPI* and *Arahy.1ZVJ53* genes were located at the downstream of SNP22577, which was related to effector receptor (NLR) - can regulate plant disease resistance by pathogenic recognition [147].

Transcriptomic and proteomic analyses have also been used to identify candidate genes involved in resistance response against *A. flavus* in peanuts.

Wang et al. (2010) reported twelve potentially differentially expressed proteins between peanut variety YJ-1 (resistant) and Yueyou 7 (suspectable) under well-watered conditions, drought stress, and A. flavus infection with drought stress. These proteins could be divided into four functional groups including defence response, signalling components, regulation of transcription and storage protein [148]. Moreover, Guo et al., (2011) conducted a peanut oligonucleotide microarray chip analysis and identified 62 genes with upregulated expression in the resistant cultivar, and 22 putative Aspergillusresistance genes with high-level expression also in the resistant cultivar. The study used two peanut lines, Tifrunner (susceptible) and GT-C20 (resistant) and reported several important genes including lipoxygenase, late embryogenesis (LEA) proteins, defensins, and PR10, among others, in response to A. flavus infection [149] (Table 2). In addition, Wang et al., (2013) used RNA-seq for global transcriptome profiling of post-harvest seed of resistant (Zhonghua 6) and susceptible (Zhonghua 12) peanut genotypes under A.flavus infection and aflatoxin production stress, and obtained 128, 725 unigenes, of which 30, 143 were differentially expressed, and 842 are potential defence-related genes [150]. Similarly, Nayak et al. (2017) integrated IVSC and RNA-seq approach on J11 (resistant) and JL24 (susceptible) led to the identification of 4,445 DEGs involved in multiple pathways such as defence-related, PR or metabolic pathways targeting genes [99]. Korani et al. (2018) compared the seed transcriptome of resistant (ICG 1471) and susceptible (Florida-07) peanut cultivars and identified 4,272 DEGs associated with postharvest resistance. In this study, the author highlighted the importance of WRKY TFs, heat shock proteins and TIR-NBS-LRR in providing resistance [122]. Further, Zhao et al. (2019) transcriptomic and proteomic analyses revealed 663 DEGs and 314 differentially expressed proteins during the infection of J11 peanut by A. flavus [142]. More recently, Jayaprakash et al. (2021) transcriptomic network study from publically available RNAseq datasets of resistant and susceptible peanut varieties infected by A. flavus also revealed hub genes involved in peanut immune responses [151]. Cui et al. (2022) identified 18 genes positively associated with peanut resistance to A. flavus in two genotypes Zhonghua 12 (susceptible) and J11 (resistant), by comparative transcriptome and weighted gene coexpression network analysis (WGCNA) [152]. Wang et al. (2023) identified a total of 5768 DEGs and 349 differentially abundant metabolites between Zhonghua 6 and Yuanza 9102 during A. flavus infection, by transcriptomic and metabolomic analysis [153]. Collectively, these studies provide insight into the molecular mechanism of resistance to A. flavus and will contribute to the development of resistant peanut varieties.

4.3) Host-induced gene silencing, RNA interference and overexpression studies

Successful applications of host-induced gene silencing (HIGS), RNA interference (RNAi) and overexpression against the pathogenic fungi and aflatoxin have been reported. For instance, in a study by Sharma et al. (2017), HIGS of aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway regulatory genes afIM and afIP, was shown to inhibit aflatoxin production. This study also demonstrated that overexpression (OE) of antifungal plant defensins MsDef1 and MtDef4.2, led to reduced A.flavus infection and aflatoxin production in susceptible peanut variety JL 24. The combined approach, with HIGS suppressing aflatoxin production upon infection and antifungal defensins boosting genetic resistance to A. flavus infection, resulted in durable resistance against various Aspergillus flavus morphotypes and nondetectable (or as low as 1–2 ppb) aflatoxin content in several peanut events/lines well [154]. Moreover, Prasad et al. (2023) described a HIGS strategy to simultaneously control A.flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination by multiplexed targeting nsdC, veA, afIM, and afIR genes, essential in fungal morphogenesis and aflatoxin biosynthesis. The HIGS plants exhibited lower infection and aflatoxin accumulation levels, and subsequent comparative proteomic profiling revealed a notable downregulation of several fungal proteins, such as the fungal sexual development regulator, VelC, and aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway proteins, including AfIC, AfIL, AfIM, AfIQ, AfIR, AfIS, AfIV, AflW, VeA, and AflJ. These findings validate the suppressed growth of the fungus and the diminished levels of aflatoxin production, demonstrating the effectiveness of HIGS as a strategy for resistance in peanuts [155]. In turn, Arias et al. (2015) and Power et al. (2020) demonstrated that silencing five genes involved in aflatoxin biosynthesis - aflR, aflS, aflC, pes1, and aflep - by RNA interference (RNAi) in transformed peanuts, can also prevent aflatoxin accumulation following inoculation with A. flavus [156], [157]. Additionally, overexpression of a chitinase gene (RChit) from rice in transgenic peanuts was shown to enhance resistance to A. flavus infection [131]. Similarly, overexpression of the PR10 family putative resistant gene ARAhPR10 reduced A.flavus infection and aflatoxin content in peanut transgenic lines [158]. Also, Sundaresha et al. (2009) reported that overexpression of a tobacco β 1–3 glucanase gene in peanuts increased its resistance towards A.flavus [159]. More recently, Liang et al. (2023) showed that overexpression of two peanut- susceptible hydroxylase genes (AhS5H1 and AhS5H2) decreased salicylic acid content, increased 2,5-DHBA levels and increased susceptibility to Pst DC3000, a common bacterial pathogen. These results suggest that both enzymes had a similar role in planta which was confirmed in vitro and transgenic Arabidopsis plants. Additionally, transcript levels of defence-related genes suggested that the expression of AhS5H1 and AhS5H2 in peanuts is associated with defence mechanisms and tissue-specific [160].

Lastly, in a recent investigation by Yu et al. (2023), the gene named *AhAftr1* (*Arachis hypogaea* Aflatoxin resistance 1) was identified by RNA-Seq analysis on a RIL population derived from the cross between Xuhua13 (susceptible) and Zhonghua 6 (resistant). This gene, annotated as the "NB-LRRs protein gene" exhibited a structural variation (SV) in the LRRs domain, which was subsequently validated to confer aflatoxin production resistance via the ETI pathway in transgenic experiments [144]. These techniques have also been shown to successfully reduce *A.flavus* infection and aflatoxin contamination in maize by targeting the downregulation of the aflatoxin biosynthetic genes *aflR*, *aflM*, *aflC*; and *alk*, *amy1* and *p2c* of *A. flavus* [161]–[166].

5) The potential of Susceptibility genes in Resistance Breeding

For decades, resistant breeding has successfully relied on dominant resistance (R) genes to create resistant plants. However, resistance mediated by a single R gene often lacks durability due to the loss or mutation of the R gene's corresponding effector in pathogens. Hence, the approach of combining multiple R genes within a single genotype, referred to as "gene stacking," has been regarded as a more effective approach for maintaining crop resistance [167]. An alternative approach for acquiring resistant plants is the exploitation of disease susceptibility genes (S genes) [118], [168]. S genes can be defined as genes required to establish compatible plant-pathogen interactions and their impairment can lead to durable, recessively inherited, and potentially broad-spectrum resistance in various crops [118], [169].

S genes are part of various gene families and have a wide range of functions in plantpathogen interaction through which they can be categorized into three types [170]: 1) genes involved in host entry. A notable example is the *Mildew resistance locus O (MLO)* involved in susceptibility to powdery mildews, where the inactivation of *MLO* prevents fungal penetration into host cells [169], [171]; respectively, 2) include genes that act as negative regulators of defence. For instance, in *Arabidopsis, Downy mildew resistance 6 (DMR6)* mutants express enhanced levels of the defence-associated hormone salicylic acid (SA), which results in the loss of susceptibility to *Hyaloperonospora parasitica* [172]; and lastly 3) genes that allow pathogen proliferation and sustain compatibility with the host. For example, the *Sugars Will Eventually Be Exported Transporter (SWEET*) genes, encoding putative sugar transporters, are induced by transcription activator-like effectors (TALEs) from rice-pathogenic *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzae* (*Xoo*). During infection, the efflux sugar transporter *OsSWEET11*, is upregulated and transports sugars into the apoplastic space, thereby providing nutrients to the pathogen [173], [174].

As research into S genes advances, it becomes increasingly clear that multiple functional categories of genes play a role in susceptibility. S genes not only encode host proteins

that contribute to pathogen establishment and sustenance by suppressing immune responses but also serve as negative plant immunity regulators, ultimately favouring disease development [118], [175]. Hence, disabling plant S genes, for example through loss of function, can restrict pathogenesis and confer resistance to plants. By understanding the genetic makeup of S genes, breeders can make use of wide-genome identification of candidate genes from different crop species and develop more targeted approaches based on comparative genetics for their exploitation [118], [169].

5.1) Identification and modification of plant susceptibility genes

The fundamental step in utilizing impaired S genes for any plant-pathogen interaction involves initially identifying these genes. Generally, two main strategies can be employed to identify S genes: forward and reverse genetics. To date, most S genes have been identified as naturally occurring variants or following mutagenesis through forward genetics screening. Yet, more recently, S genes have also been discovered through pathogen effectors and the host targets they manipulate [169], [176]. Respectively, forward genetic techniques entail screenings of wild germplasm or of a mutant population to identify plants that exhibit altered susceptibility to a given pathogen. Most studies make use of the model Arabidopsis thaliana to allow rapid identification of resistant cultivars via phenotypic observation [176]. In addition, researchers may also resort to reverse genetic techniques, which frequently use expression analyses followed by functional characterization to further investigate the genes as susceptibility factors. Candidate genes can be functionally characterized using various techniques, including genesilencing or knockout techniques, such as Host-induced gene silencing (HIGS) and RNA interference (RNAi) [118]. As mentioned previously, it is also possible to identify S genes through pathogen effectors and host targets. This is because Effector targets are proteins in a host organism that pathogens manipulate to promote disease. As a result, they can be used as molecular probes to identify S genes. Also, these targets can be identified with a yeast two-hybrid assay [177]. Another possibility is to identify orthologues of known S genes across species. S gene orthologues are frequently conserved in various species, likely due to their involvement in various plant biological functions. This conservation trait is valuable in breeding since it makes it easier to identify and functionally characterize orthologs in different crops. In addition, the abundance of sequencing and transcriptomics data available for crops further aids these efforts via phylogenetic analyses [176], [178].

Furthermore, breeders can employ new breeding technologies (NBTs), such as genome editing techniques [179]. Such techniques involve the alteration of an organism's genome sequences, by using engineered site-specific nucleases, such as zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activators like effector nucleases (TALENs), and, recently, clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR) systems with associated

protein 9 (Cas9) (CRISPR/Cas9) [180]–[182] (Figure 2). The nucleases, which create double-strand breaks (DSBs), can subsequently induce targeted changes in the genome, by deletion, replacement or insertion of specific sequences, and subsequently generate desired mutations and avoid associated fitness costs [179]. The applicability of these techniques has been shown in various crops and has revolutionized the field of plant disease resistance [175], [180], [182], [183]. Furthermore, the application of mutant S genes in breeding may also be achieved by Oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis (ODM), another tool of genome editing. This technique employs a specific oligonucleotide (homologous except for 1bp) to introduce a mutation in the host genome, that disrupts the function of the target gene [182]. Similarly, homology-directed repair (HDR) is also used to introduce specific mutations into the susceptible background [176]. Lastly, 'Targeting Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes' (TILLING), is a nontransgenic technology that integrates chemical mutagenesis with a high-throughput detection method to identify mutations of interest [118].



Figure 2- Figure 2 Schematic representation of three classes of programmable nucleases: a) of zinc-finger nuclease (ZFN); b) transcription-activator-like effector nuclease (TALEN), c) CRISPR-Cas9 nuclease Retrieved from Langner et al. (2018). *CRISPR Crops: Plant Genome Editing Toward Disease Resistance*. Annual Review of Phytopathology

5.2) Advantages and disadvantages

The impairment of Susceptibility genes has gained increasing attention for resistance breeding of crops for several reasons. Firstly, overcoming resistance conferred by impaired S genes is deemed more challenging for pathogens compared to resistance mediated by R genes. This is because R-gene-mediated resistance involves the recognition of pathogen effectors or invasion patterns (IP) by specific resistance genes in the host plant, leading to the activation of the defence mechanism. In turn, pathogens can adapt by losing or mutating their effectors or invasion patterns to avoid recognition. In turn, S-gene-mediated resistance relies on reducing or impairing susceptibility genes within the host plant, which affects the host's overall susceptibility to pathogens. Hence, the pathogen is required to gain a new manner to establish disease and counteract such genetic alterations, making it more challenging. Moreover, S-gene-mediated resistance is not as pathogen-specific as R-gene resistance, since it provides resistance to a broad range of pathogens, rather than just one specific race or strain. Lastly, orthologues of S genes are typically conserved in nature and have vital roles in plant growth and development, making them stable across species and resistant to rapid evolutionary changes. Subsequently, phylogenetic analyses of known S genes between species can facilitate the identification of S gene orthologs in different plant species [176] Therefore, resistance mediated by impaired S genes is commonly used in breeding for its potential to provide durable resistance against a broad spectrum of pathogens [118], [176].

A well-studied example of a long-lasting S-gene used in resistance breeding is the previously mentioned Mildew Resistance Locus O (MLO1) gene [127]. The MLO gene family encode proteins with seven transmembrane and C-terminal calmodulin-binding (CaMB) domains that are functionally important negative regulators for Powdery Mildew (PM) resistance [184], [185]. MLO-mediated resistance is based on the prevention of the fungus to penetrate the host cell during the early stages of invasion [169], [171]. To date, numerous MLO genes have been identified in several crop species, and inactivation of these genes has resulted in durable resistance to Powdery Mildew (PM) [171], [186]–[192]. Still, a significant drawback to the impairment of S genes encoding negative regulators of plant immunity is the often-accompanying adverse pleiotropic effects, deemed undesirable for breeding objectives. For instance, MLO mutants in barley (HvMLO) exhibited early senescence-like leaf chlorosis under certain environmental conditions [187]. Nevertheless, research has indicated that these effects can be mitigated through conventional breeding techniques employing suitable genotypes, or by selecting mild S alleles [169]. Furthermore, the extent of fitness cost is dependent on the plant species and the prevailing environmental conditions [118]. For example, silencing of Defence No Death1 (DND1) by RNAi in tomato plants led to dwarfism (impediment of conidial germination and attachment, as well as hyphal growth) and spontaneous cell death without pathogen infection (autonecrosis). However, in potatoes, silencing of the orthologue caused only slight autonecrosis that is dependent on the plant growing conditions [193]. Moreover, impairment of S genes can also influence other traits, such as sensitivity to abiotic stresses. E.g, in pepper plants, silencing *CaMLO1* gene, an ortholog of tomato *SIMLO1*, was demonstrated to induce resistance against *Xanthomonas campestris*, however, a side effect of this was a reduced tolerance to drought stress [194].

5.3) Candidate Susceptibility Genes

The identification and exploitation of susceptibility genes in peanuts are still in the early stages, and there is limited knowledge available. Just recently, Prasad et al. (2023) described a HIGS strategy to simultaneously control A.flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination by multiplexed targeting nsdC, veA, afIM, and afIR genes in peanuts. In this study, susceptibility-associated proteins (SAPs), such as annexins, syntaxins, calmodulin, and 9-cis-epoxy carotenoid dioxygenase and mildew resistance locus O (MLO), were significantly upregulated in susceptible WT controls plants compared to HIGS lines. Hence, the authors propose further investigation of these SAPs as potential targets in gene editing approaches for enhanced resistance in peanuts. [155]. Furthermore, in Traore et al. (2021) study, 25 AhMLO loci were identified and distributed in 14 of the 20 chromosomes of the cultivated peanut genome. Two of these were putative-specific genes that can be used as targets for loss of susceptibility studies and resistance breeding in peanuts. These two AhMLO loci were clustered with MLO gene members from other plant species responsible for the susceptibility in the clade V [168]. Plus, defenseresponsive cis-regulatory elements (CREs) -TC-box and Thymine rich - were identified in the promoter region of the two AhMLO and presumed for PM susceptibility in different plant species [195], [196]. Additionally, Liang et al. (2023) identified two salicylic acid hydroxylase genes (AhS5H1 and AhS5H2) as candidate susceptibility genes in peanuts for the first time. Both hydroxylases were shown to share a similar role in planta, which was confirmed both in vitro and in transgenic Arabidopsis plants. Respectively, Ah5H1 and AhS5H2 overexpression lines displayed decreased SA content, increased 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic levels and were more susceptible to Pst DC3000, a common bacterial pathogen [160]. Specifically on resistance to A.flavus and aflatoxin contamination, Clevenger et al. (2016) pointed out ethylene responsive transcription factor ABR1, as a candidate susceptibility factor, due to its role as a repressor of the ABA signalling pathway that may play a role in permitting pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination in peanuts [197].

The findings of these studies offer valuable insights into the potential advancement of utilizing susceptibility genes in peanuts for the purpose of breeding resistance.

6) Discussion

The aim of this study was to 1) comprehensively review the existing literature on peanuts' resistance to *Aspergillus flavus* and aflatoxin contamination, and 2) to investigate the potential of manipulating susceptibility genes as a resistance breeding strategy against the aflatoxin-producing fungus.

The development of peanut varieties with resistance to both fungal infection and aflatoxin contamination remains a challenge. Traditional breeding efforts have focused on enhancing peanut resistance through the identification and incorporation of resistance genes [167]. However, recent attention has turned towards the potential of manipulating susceptibility genes as an effective strategy to render durable, recessively inherited, and potentially broad-spectrum resistance in peanuts [118], [169]. One notable advantage of targeting susceptibility genes lies in the complex and dynamic nature of plant-pathogen interactions. *A. flavus* fungi have evolved sophisticated mechanisms to exploit host plants, often relying on host susceptibility factors for successful infection and aflatoxin production. So, by disrupting these susceptibility factors, researchers can potentially limit pathogenesis, leading to enhanced resistance in peanuts [168].

To achieve this, breeders must initially seek to understand the molecular mechanics and genetic factors that contribute to peanut resistance and susceptibility. Significant breakthroughs have been achieved based on an extensive body of research. The resistance to A. flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination is acknowledged as a multifaceted trait influenced by environmental factors, encompassing three main mechanisms: 1) in-vitro seed colonization resistance (IVSC); 2) resistance to pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination (PAC); and 3) resistance to aflatoxin production following infection (AP) [98], [99]. As of today, there are no reports documenting the existence of all three resistance mechanisms within a singular genetic background [13]. Previous studies by Upadhyaya et al. (2002) and Utomo et al. (1990) suggested the independent inheritance of the three resistance mechanisms. Subsequently, studies on bi-parental QTL mapping by Yu et al. (2019), Khan et al. (2020), Jiang et al. (2021), Jin et al. (2023) and Yu et al. (20023) highlighted its polygenic nature and potential improvement through marker-assisted breeding. For instance, QTL mappings of J11 revealed that resistance to A. flavus infection is controlled by multiple QTLs and that the resistance-associated alleles in these QTLs were not stable across environments, thus demonstrating the influence of growth conditions on resistance. Moreover, the identification of multiple QTLs with relatively low levels of PVE (<10%) also suggests that minor QTLs contribute to resistance and that physiological and morphological traits contribute to the overall resistance. Another important finding was the discovery of the stable QTL qPSIIB10, with favourable alleles from the susceptible parent Zhonghua 16. By pyramiding favourable alleles of both J11 and Zhonghua 16, researchers managed to significantly improve resistance levels across environments, thus highlighting the importance of considering susceptible germplasms

in breeding efforts, since they might possess valuable loci for resistance to *A. flavus* infection [146]. A comprehensive summary of the identified QTLs associated with resistance can be seen in – Table 1: *Bi-parental QTL mapping of genomic regions associated with resistance against A.flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination.* Additionally, multiple SNP/InDel markers associated with aflatoxin resistance have been identified by GWAS, however, the loci responsible for aflatoxin resistance have yet to be delimited in smaller genomic intervals. Moreover, the integration of transcriptomic, proteomic and metabolomic analyses, has also been crucial in elucidating the molecular mechanisms involved in host-pathogen interaction and aflatoxin contamination. These omics approaches have supplemented information on candidate genes, pathways and networks contributing to peanut resistance and susceptibility (Tables 2, 3, 4 and 5), offering potential targets for genetic manipulation using biotechnological approaches in resistance breeding strategies.

The second part of this study focused on the potential of manipulating susceptibility genes as a resistance breeding strategy for peanuts against Aspergillus flavus. As mentioned, the impairment of susceptibility genes can confer durable, recessively inherited, and potentially broad-spectrum resistance [118]. Therefore, the utilization of S-genemediated resistance in peanuts holds significant promise. However, the current state of research on peanut susceptibility genes is scarce and reflects ongoing efforts to identify and characterize S- genes, as well as to understand their role in host-pathogen interactions. Thus far, various research proposals have been put forth regarding candidate susceptibility factors. For instance, in Prasad et al. (2023) study, the upregulation of SAPs (Annexins, Syntaxins, Calmodulin) in the susceptible plants suggests that these proteins may play a role in susceptibility, and thus be potential targets in gene editing approaches for enhanced resistance in peanut. Namely, Annexins are calcium-regulated phospholipid-binding proteins that mediate membrane fusion and play diverse roles in response to biotic and abiotic stresses. Previous studies have linked annexins with ROS production and the regulation of calcium signals, both of which are key components of plant stress responses. Therefore, a differential expression of annexins may potentially compromise the integrity of plant cell membrane and the overall defence response, resulting in an increased susceptibility [198], [199]. Syntaxins are another family of membrane proteins, which potentially play a role in penetration resistance to powdery mildew fungi [200] and were shown to confer resistance to Phytophthora in different crops via RNAimediated silencing [201], [202]. Moreover, Calmodulin (CaM), the primary calcium sensor in plants, interacts with calcium ions and regulates diverse cellular functions by modulating the activity of various target proteins in reaction to calcium signals. In tomatoes, silencing of the calmodulin-like proteins SICML55 was shown to inhibit Phytophthora infection [203]. Another candidate susceptibility gene is the 9-cis-epoxy carotenoid dioxygenase (NCED), a key enzyme involved in abscisic acid (ABA) biosynthesis. In Prasad et al. (2023) study, the NCED gene exhibited higher expression in the susceptible genotype,

indicating its potential role in susceptibility. [155]. ABA in known to be involved in various physiological processes, including stress/pathogen defence responses, and interplay with other signaling pathways, such as those responsible for salicylic acid (SA) or ethylene synthesis. Its influence on host immunity against pathogens varies based on the specific pathosystem – dual role: may contribute to defence response or enhance susceptibility [204]. For example, studies have shown that ABA can positively regulate defence mechanisms against powdery mildew in rubber trees, while in barley, ABA has been associated with increased susceptibility to *Magnaporthe oryzae* [205], [206]. Hence, modifying ABA levels may be explored as a way to enhance resistance to specific pathogens. Moreover, an interaction between Ca2+/calmodulin signalling components and ABA-based ROS defence responses has also been demonstrated in maize [207].

One of the most intriguing targets proposed was the *mildew resistance locus O* (*MLO*). As previously mentioned, the specific *MLO* loci associated with PM susceptibility function as a negative regulator of hypersensitive response upon PM infection. Loss of function of these genes has been linked to confer a broad-spectrum and durable disease resistance in various crops. Accordingly, genome-wide identification of susceptibility genes is a prerequisite for loss of function studies [171], [186]–[192]. Hence, the recent discovery by Traore et al. (2021) of two putative-specific *AhMLO* loci grouped in clade V, provide a foundation for further research on the potential use of susceptibility genemediated resistance in peanut. Respectively, these two *AhMLO* loci can be targets for loss of susceptibility studies and their manipulation may offer a promising approach to enhance resistance in peanuts [168].

Particularly on resistance to aflatoxin, Clevenger et al. (2016) suggest a potential susceptibility factor, the Ethylene Responsive TF *ABR1* - a repressor of ABA signaling that may play a role in permitting pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination in peanuts. The disruption of *ABR1* has been shown to increase ABA expression, which aligns with the observation that ABA signalling is decreased in contaminated peanut seeds where the expression of homologues of *ABR1* is up-regulated [197]. Additionally, in *Arabidopsis*, *ABR1* has been characterized as a susceptibility hub that interacts with multiple *Pseudomonas syringae* effectors, suggesting that it may be targeted by the pathogen to promote susceptibility [208].

Furthermore, no S genes were previously known to confer resistance to pathogens in peanuts. However, a groundbreaking discovery was made in the study by Liang et al. (2023) regarding susceptible genes in peanuts. In this study, two salicylate hydroxylase genes (*AhS5H1* and *AhS5H2*) were successfully predicted and identified within the peanut genome [160]. These genes are involved in the salicylic acid (SA) signalling pathway, which is a key signalling pathway in plant defence responses, required for pathogentriggered immunity (PTI) and effector-triggered immunity (ETI) in local tissue, as well as systemic acquired resistance (SAR) [209], [210]. Moreover, S genes are typically conserved across plant species, and phylogenetic analysis indicated that AhS5H1 is highly similar to SA *3-hydroxylase (S3H)*, while *AhS5H2* resembles SA *5-hydroxylase (S5H)*. *S5H*

and *S3H*, identified as *downy mildew resistant* (*DMR6*) and its close homolog *DLO1* (*DMR6-like oxygenase1*), respectively, function as partially redundant but distinct suppressors of immunity [211], [212]. Orthologs of the *DMR6* and *DLO* genes have been identified and proved to be S genes in several crops, conferring broad-spectrum resistance [to different pathogens] [213]–[215]. In Liang et al.'s study, the salicylate hydroxylases' functionality was verified both *in vitro* and in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants, supporting the significance of the candidate S genes *AhS5H1* and *AhS5H2* in disease resistance to specific pathogens, including *A. flavus*. This discovery represents a significant advancement in the potential use of S-gene-mediated resistance in peanuts.

To conclude, the manipulation of peanuts susceptibility-genes to gain resistance against pathogens is an area of active research. Even though there are currently no examples of successful manipulation of peanut S- genes that confer resistance to *A.flavus*, the referenced studies discuss the identification of different candidate susceptibility factors, laying the groundwork for potential manipulation studies. Also, these findings not only offer valuable insights into peanut - *A.flavus* interactions but also suggest that employing S Genes-mediated resistance holds promise as an effective strategy for peanut resistance breeding. However, further research and genome-wide mining of susceptibility genes are warranted.

Proposed Research Framework

Despite challenges associated with utilizing S-genes in breeding, such as potential adverse pleiotropic effects, there is an optimistic outlook that the development of new genetic engineering tools will address some of these issues. Accordingly, to further study peanut S-genes, I suggest using CRISPR, a versatile tool for both forward and reverse genetic studies. The CRISPR/Cas9 gene-editing technology allows scientists to modify specific genes of interest (including Susceptibility genes) while sparing all others, to enhance resistance in crops. While this technology has proven successful in numerous crops, its application in peanuts has been limited, potentially due to the scarcity of suitable constructs and protocols. Nonetheless, a recent study by Neelakandan et al. (2022) has addressed this gap by developing two constructs that can be used for gene editing (loss-of-function) studies in peanuts [216]. Furthermore, the integration of base editors with the CRISPR/Cas9 system has also been employed to induce single-base alterations in plants [217]. Hence, CRISPR-based targeted mutagenesis holds significant potential in breeding to prevent fitness costs by making precise modifications, like introducing single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in susceptibility (S) genes; or directly replacing functional S genes in cultivars by utilizing natural mutants present in the germplasm; or by synthetically generating mutant alleles for integration.

The following proposed research frameworks for identifying and characterizing S genes in peanuts are formulated based on the existing literature:

- 1) Select genetically diverse peanut cultivars with contrasting resistance levels to *Aspergillus flavus* and aflatoxin contamination. Cross these cultivars to generate a mapping population for subsequent genetic analyses.
 - Peanuts 'resistance to *A. flavus* is genotype-specific and highly influenced by the environment, which may cause inconsistent phenotypic outcomes. Hence, research is suggested to be performed under controlled conditions.
- 2) Assess the phenotypic response of the mapping population for signs of infection, as well as aflatoxin quantification and disease Incidence.
 - described by Yu et al. (2019) [136].
- 3) Conduct Genome-Wide Association (GWAS) studies along with Quantitative Trait Locus (QTL) mapping to identify genetic loci and candidate genes associated with resistance to *A. flavus* infection and aflatoxin contamination.
- 4) Conduct transcriptomic and proteomic analyses to identify differentially expressed genes (DEGs) and proteins associated with resistance and susceptibility.
- 5) Perform functional analyses to validate the candidate genes as susceptibility factors via gene-silencing or knockout techniques.

A different approach implies the identification of orthologues of known S genes. For such, make use of existing knowledge on susceptibility genes involved in responses to *A.flavus* infection and aflatoxin in other crop species.

- Perform sequence analysis to identify putative orthologues of known S genes in the peanut genome. Make use of available genomic and transcriptomic data to pinpoint homologous sequences and conserved domains.
- 2) Conduct phylogenetic analyses to assess the genetic relationship and potential functional conservation.
- Conduct Genomic Loci Identification of the orthologous sequences in the peanut genome - High-Density Genetic Linkage Map Construction Using Whole-Genome Resequencing for Mapping QTLs
- 4) Analyze the expression patterns of the orthologous genes in response to *A. flavus* infection, followed by functional analyze to validate their role.

Lastly, it is also possible to identify S genes through pathogen effectors and host targets. This is because effector targets are proteins in a host organism that pathogens manipulate to promote disease. As a result, they can be used as molecular probes to identify S genes.

- 1) Search existing literature to identify effector proteins associated with *Aspergillus flavus*, involved in manipulating host cellular responses to promote disease.
- 2) Conduct effector-target interaction analysis to identify putative host-targets in peanuts that are manipulated by *A.flavus*.
- 3) Perform sequence analysis to identify orthologues of known effector targets in the peanut genome, followed by phylogenetic analyses.
- 4) Subsequent genomic loci identification and functional validation.

These approaches not only provide valuable insights into the molecular mechanisms involved in peanut-pathogen interactions but also establish a basis for a more targeted and efficient breeding program aimed at developing peanut varieties with enhanced resistance to pathogen *A. flavus* and aflatoxin production.

7) Supplement material

 Table 1 Bi-parental QTL mapping of genomic regions associated with resistance against A.flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination. Major QTLs in grey (PVE > 10%). The designated aabbcc and AABBCC do not reflect dominance or recessive - distinction between parental and maternal alleles, in studied that assessed which alleles contribute to the phenotype.

Genotype	Mapping population	QTL	LG	Position (cM)	Marker Interval	PVE %	LOD	Additive value	Resistance	Refere nce
		qPSIIA05	A05	56.5–57.5	c05b092-c05b093	5.50	3.17	2.41		
		qPSIIA08	A08	53.5–54.5	c08b121-c08b122	10.87	5.97	3.39		
Male parent J11: aabbcc		qPSIIB01	B01	43.5–44.5	c11b078-c11b079	6.16	2.63	3.74		
ICRISAT Hyderabad India					c13b091-c13b092	9.16	5.16	3.07		
		qPSIIB03.a		52.5-53.5		9.23	3.91	4.58		
Female parent Zhonghua 16:	J11 (R) X Zhonghua 16 (S)		B03			5.03	2.74	2.68	A flavus infection	[3]
ADDEC		qPSIIB03.b		36.5–37.5	c13b049-c13b050	5.75	2.75	2.87	A.Juvus infection	
OCRI-CAAS, Wuhan, China.						10.10	5.39	-3.23		
						9.94	5.28	-3.79		
		qPSIIB10	qPSIIB10 B10	10 32.5–33.5	c20b057-c20b058	10.58	4.92	-3.92		
						6.91	2.84	-3.99		
Male parent Xinhuixiaoli: ?		qRAF-3-1	A03	111.902–113.575	Marker8555604- 8633509	19.04	10.54	7.94		
Landrace. CCGRIS. Guangdong, China. (Zh.h0341, <i>A. hypogaea var.</i> <i>fastigiata</i>). Female parent Yueyou 92:? GDAAS, Guangdong, China. (<i>A. hypogaea var. vulgaris</i>)	Xinhuixiaoli (R) × Yueyou 92 (S) RIL population	qRAF-14-1	B04	29.006–34.460	Marker4154940- 4158241	5.15	2.85	-4.13	A.flavus infection	[145]
Male parent ICG 12625:		qPSIIA03	A03	28.50-30.20	AHGS2058 -AGGS0052	7.96	3.06	-2.62		
aabbdd		~DS!//A10	A10	43.50-44.70	ACCS1425 AB\$710	13.00	5.00	5.27	A. flavus infection	
ICDICAT Undersheed India	ICG 12625 (R) X Zhonghua 10	<i>qPSIIA10</i>	AIU	43.70-44.30	AGG31425 - AK3710	11.32	4.40	3.08		
ICRISAT, Hyderabad, India. (PI 497597, <i>A. hypogaea var.</i>	(5)	qAFB2A03	A03	50.19-55.08	AGGS1139 - AHGS2025	8.32	3.45	3.44		[136]
aequatoriana)	RIL population	qAFB1A05	A05	51.10-55.70	AHGS1245 - AGGS0876	7.98	3.17	36.02		
		- AER1 407	4.07	83.40-99.20	AD\$724 CM2156	14.57	36.02	49.00		
Female parent Zhonghua 10:		QAFDIAU/	AU7	80.30-91.00	AK3/34 - GIVIZ150	17.87	5.98	35.96		

AABBDD				83.80-98.20		10.62	4.70	25.68		
OCDI CAAS Wuhan China		. 4502.407		74.30-84.40	AHGS1454 - HAS1360	10.84	3.96	2.95		
(A. hypogaea var. vulgaris)		qAFBZAU7		83.50-98.20	ARS734 - GM2156	12.19	5.10	2.20		
		qAFB2B05	B05	45.40-50.40	AGGS0979 - TC19E1	11.05	4.90	-3.49		
		aAEB1806 1		42.50-52.90	AGGS1515 - AGGS1587	16.33	6.40	-52.07	Aflatoxin	
		QAFBIB00.1		45.70-52.70	AGGS2069 - AGGS1587	9.52	3.90	-26.31	Containination	
		qAFB1B06.2	B06	69.50-77.60	AHGS1464 - HAS0969	7.78	3.11	-19.13		
		aAFB2B06		43.10-50.10	GM2444 - AHGA335472	9.32	3.80	- 3.53		
		941 02000		43.20–58.30	GM2444 - AGGS0983	21.02	8.80	-4.11		
		qAFB1B07.1		39.20-51.70	AGGS1581 - GM2067	8.48	3.60	-40.35		
		qAFB1B07.2	B07	86.00-86.50	TC3B4 - AHGS2233	7.30	3.10	-36.16		
		qAFB1B07.3	507	103.70-104.30	AGGS1081 - AhTE0615	7.46	3.20	-22.55		
		qAFB2B07		80.80-86.50	TC3B4 - AHGS2233	14.45	5.30	-4.48		
				27.41-35.52	c05b050-c05b062	7.95	4.44	12.77		
		qAFTA05.1	4.05	25.19-38.08	c05b046-c05b066	11.42	6.35	18.09		
			AUS	22.02–35.80	c05b041-c05b063	5.99	3.29	10.64		
		qAFTA05.2		57.49–59.07	c05b093-c05b098	5.49	3.12	11.06		
Male parent J11: aabbcc		qAFTA05.3		63.71–70.01	c05b109-c05b115	5.83	3.11	11.07		
		qAFTA08	A08	25.15-25.91	c08b048-c08b050	4.99	2.82	-9.79		
ICRISAT, Hyderabad, India.	J11 (R) X Zhonghua 16 (S)	qAFTB05.1	B05	8.30-8.55	c15b022-c15b023	5.2	2.73	-9.91		
Female parent Zhonghua 16:	RIL population	qAFTB05.2		11.05-26.25	c15b031–c15b068	9.90	5.37	-13.79	Aflatoxin	[146]
AABBCC		qAFTB06.1		39.06-39.56	c16b081-c16b083	4.83	2.65	9.95	contamination	
OCRI-CAAS, Wuhan, China.		qAFTB06.2	B06	39.81–44.65	c16b084-c16b101	7.52	4.54	14.86		
				46.04–56.26	c16b105-c16b137	8.23	4.64	12.91		
		qAFTBU6.3		46.04–57.03	c16b105-c16b139	10.63	6.58	17.6		
		qAFTB09.1	000	39.57-41.65	c19b079–c19b086	4.61	2.86	11.58		
		qAFTB09.2	B09	47.11-49.96	c19b104-c19b112	5.8	3.63	12.93		
mala Davantar			A01	20.35	TC11H06-TC4H07	22.7	4.30	0.209		
Zhenzhuhei, Virginia	three independent RIL		A02	9.31	gi-716-TC1E05	11.2	2.26	-0.144		
Fu 95-5, Spain	populations:		A03	5.31	pPGSseq18E7–Seq4E08	6.2	2.60	-0.047		[4 42]
ICRISAT, Hyderabad, India.	Zhenzhuhei (R) x Yueyou 13 (S)	N/A	A04	12.76	pPGPseq2H8–PM3	6.6	2.1	-0.039	A.JIAVUS INJECTION	[143], [218]
	Fu95-5 (R) x Yueyou13 (S)		B05	25.01	pPGPseq7G2–TC5A06	10.5	2.91	0.162		
female parent: Yueyou 13 Spain	J-11 (K) x Yueyou13 (S)		B08	6.78	TC11A04-PM137	7.3	2.4	0.015		

					TIF 17,110201	13.39	6.94	17.51		
Mala wavent Vicking 12, askh		qAFTsA07.1	A07	0.01-31.79	DA11-2102420	11.03	5.26	21.15		
Male parent Xunual3: aabb					PA11.2103429	8,48	3.98	13.47		
OCRI CAAS Wuhan China		a 1 ET c 1 0 7 2	A07	59.11-62.40	TIF.07:58988620-	5.99	3,21	-11,73		
OCRI-CAAS, Wullan, China.	Zhonghua $6(P)$ x Yuhua 12(S)	YAFTSAUT.2			TIF.07:62491911				Aflatovin	
Female parent 7honghua 6:		qAFTsA02	A02	8.63-10.73	TIF.02:1722668-	7.07	3,81	-17,24	contamination	
	BIL population				TIF.02:2765688				containination	
	hie population	qAFTsB07		48.97-63.16	TIF.17:121175430-	7.25	4,42	13,42		[144]
OCRI-CAAS Wuhan China			PO7		TIF.02:129143935					
			607	56.69-58.59	TIF.17:127579080-	6.72	3,46	12,20		
					TIF.02:128477759					

Molecular Basis - Omic technologies

Table 2 A summary of transcriptomic and proteomic discoveries of key genes and pathways involved in peanut response to A.flavus and aflatoxin contamination. Aflatoxin Contamination (AP); Pre-Harvest Aflatoxin Contamination (PAC); Post Harvest Aflatoxin Contamination (PHAC); In vitro seed colonization (IVSC); salicylic acid (SA); jasmonic acid (JA); methyl jasmonate (Methyl-JA).

Genes	Function	Resistance Mechanism	Reference							
		Wiechanism								
	Transcription factors									
WRKY	Plant defence and development. Transcriptional regulator of pathogenesis and antioxidant- related genes	AP	[99], [121], [122], [219], [220]							
bZIP	Plant defence - Regulate the	AP, PAC and								
NAC	expression of biotic and abiotic	PHAC								
MYB	stress genes.									
ERF	signalling pathways									
	Fatty acids									
TIB-NBS-I BB	Disease resistance	AP and PHAC	[99] [120] [122]							
	ETI response – Cell wall signalling and PAMPs perception.		[150], [221][222]							
lipoxygenases (LOX)	JA and methyl-JA signalling pathway.	АР, РАС РНАС	[145], [149], [223]							
9s-lipoxygenase (9s-LOX)	lipid peroxidases metabolism.									
13s- lipoxygenases (13s-LOX)	lipid peroxidases metabolism.									
Oxylipins	Inhibit Aflatoxin biosynthesis. Development of cuticular elements. Involved in IA signalling pathway	AP and PAC	[6], [102]							
WRINKLED1	TF. Controls Fatty acid biosynthesis.	PAC	[197], [220]							
secondary metabolites	biosynthetic related genes involved in	n plant defence res	ponse.							
Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL)	Phytoalexins Biosynthesis and lignin precursor.	РНАС	[99], [122], [150]							
Resveratrol synthase (RS)	Stilbene type-phytoalexins Biosynthesis	IVSC and PHAC	[99], [122], [150], [225]							
Chalcone synthase (CHS)	Flavonoid biosynthesis pathway. SA signalling pathway.	IVSC and PHAC	[99], [122], [150], [197], [220], [226]							
Deoxy-chalcone synthase	Flavonoid biosynthesis pathway									
Chalcone-flavanone isomerase (CHI)	Flavonoid biosynthesis pathway.	РНАС	[99], [220], [224]							
cinnamate 4-hydroxylase (C4H)	Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis.	PHAC	[150], [227]							
4-coumarateCoA ligase (4CL)	Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis.	PHAC	[150], [227]							
UDP-glucose flavonoid 3 -O- glucosyltransferase 3	Anthocyanin biosynthesis and phenylpropanoid pathway.	PAC	[220]							
SAM-dependent isoflavone 7-O- methyltransferase	Phytoalexins Biosynthesis.	РНАС	[228]							

Pathogenesis-related proteins (PR)							
PR-10		Disease resistance.	PAC	[142], [150], [152],			
		Stress signalling proteins.		[197], [220]			
PR2-like β-1,3-		Disease Resistance PR-2.		[20], [99], [122],			
	glucanase	Fungal cell wall degradation-		[130], [142], [197],			
Chitinases		Disease Resistance PR.	AP. PHAC and	[229]			
		Modulate immune response.	IVSC	[142], [150]			
		Chitin degradation.					
Peroxidases		Defence response.	AP and PAC	[99], [142], [148],			
		Regulates antioxidant metabolism.		[155]			
Defensins	DEF1	Defence response. Antifungal activities.	AP, PHAC and IVSC	[99], [154], [224]			
	DEF2						
Heat shock protein	HSP2	Plant defence. Regulate heat	AP, PAC and	[122], [230]–[232]			
(HSP)	Le-HSP17.6	shock factors. Cellular immunity	PHAC				
	HSP70 HSTE A-2						
	TIJIT A-2	Others					
Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA)	LEA2	Stress-responsive.	PAC	[149], [152], [231]			
	LEA4	Stress-responsive. Seed maturation.					
Polygalacturonase inhi proteins (PGIPs)	ibitor	Defence response.	AP	[150], [233]			
BIG		Auxin signalling and transport.	PAC	[197]			
Cu/Zn superoxide disn	nutase II	Antioxidant defensive protein.	PAC	[231]			
Kunitz-type trypsin inh	nibitor	Defence response.	PAC	[99], [234]			
		Antifungal compound.					
Hevamine-A		Defence response. Chitinase activity.	PAC	[142]			
ABA-responsive genes		Regulates stress-responsive genes. Modulates host immunity.	AP and PAC	[127], [197], [220]			
ABR1		Ethylene-responsive TF.	AP and PAC	[197], [235]			
		ABA signalling pathway repressor and susceptibility factor.					
Serine/threonine kina:	se (STK)	disease resistance proteins. LRR receptor.ETI.	IVSC	[120], [152], [228]			
RPVOD7		Pattern recognition receptor.	IVSC	[104]			
1-aminocyclopropage	-1-	ethylene signalling pathway	IVSC	[152]			
carboxylate oxidase (A	- CO1)			[]			
cytochrome P450		Disease resistance. Degradation of toxins.	PHAC	[13], [152], [228]			

Table 3 In silico analysis of gene expression in genomic regions of the two QTLS – represents the upregulated candidate genes found in the genomic regions.

QTL	Chr	Start Position	End Position	mRNAID	Annotation
		123903926	123906658	AH03G39640.1	Probable WRKY mRNA ion factor 51
		124037466	124044132	AH03G39710.1	Shikimate kinase 1%2C chloroplastic
		124211379	124235650	AH03G39780.1	ABC2 homolog 13
		124242653	124244987	AH03G39810.1	Cytochrome P450 71B34
qRAF-3-1	A03	124252378	124257039	AH03G39830.1	Transcription factor TGA4
		124324761	124328850	AH03G39870.1	RING/FYVE/PHD zinc finger superfamily protein
		124907514	124910602	AH03G40150.1	Ethylene-responsive mRNAion factor ERF060
		125097218	125101788	AH03G40210.1	CDPK-related kinase 5
		125120689	125122471	AH03G40240.1	Lipase/lipooxygenase 2C PLAT/LH2 family protein
		9339128	9343726	AH14G07090.1	myb-like HTH mRNAional regulator family protein
		9479021	9481005	AH14G07190.1	Putative disease resistance RPP13-like protein 1
		10475429	10483052	AH14G07740.1	LRR receptor-like serine/threonine-protein kinase GSO1
aR4F-1/1-1	B07	10513772	10514962	AH14G07770.1	Leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein kinase family protein
	507	10635976	10641199	AH14G07850.1	Peroxidase 53
		10696179	10700196	AH14G07860.1	Peroxidase 54
		10717448	10722950	AH14G07870.1	Peroxidase 54
		8821254	8825198	AH14G06690.1	Copper transport protein family
		8879603	8882894	AH14G06750.1	Calcineurin B-like protein 3

Table 4 Peak SNP markers associated with both Aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) and Aflatoxin B2 (AFB2) content. Retrieved fromYu et al. (2020).

Chromosome	Marker	Position	PVE% AFB1	PVE% AFB2
A01	SNP00539	34209850	26.41%	25.90%
A02	SNP02428	32402181	28.83%	31.15%
	SNP02686	46706823	22.96%	31.70%
A04	SNP05994	5449452	27.21%	26.45%
	SNP06730	41670901	26.48%	26.35%
	SNP07247	69306120	25.89%	25.41%
A06	SNP11095	44574792	27.15%	25.92%
	SNP11310	57503242	28.37%	26.66%
A08	SNP13363	855373	25.60%	25.10%
	SNP13464	12628002	27.68%	26.93%
B02	SNP20417	23772874	25.60%	25.10%
B08	SNP32483	100913450	28.49%	27.35%

Table 5 Significant markers ass	ociated with SLII, SDII and aflatoxin cor	ntent. Retrieved from Ding et al. (2022).
---------------------------------	---	---

Resistance	Chromosome	Marker	Position	PVE%
	A01	SNP00688	40368467	38.64%
Shell Infection Index		InDel21071	9357931	24.80%
	B02	SNP21070	9277537	33.74%
	-	SNP21188	14933055	31.72%
	-	SNP21021	6844,062	27.69%
	B10	InDel43846	112260595	26.99%
	B02	SNP22555	100237479	27.28%
Seed Infection Index	-	SNP22420	93852971	26.47%
Seed Infection Index	B08	InDel36369	38548488	27.62%
	B10	SNP42459	593672	25.82%
	-	SNP43163	53492328	23.33%
	A09	InDel15210	14197913	30.94%
Aflatoxin content	B10	InDel17247	23667814	36.76%
(ug/g)	B08	SNP37276	80753727	30.41%
		SNP38307	129415431	33.63%
	B02	SNP22577	101526304	34.91%

8) Bibliography

- A. Krapovickas and W. C. Gregory, "Taxonomía del género Arachis (Leguminosae)," Bonplandia, vol. 16, no. 0, p. 1, Jan. 2007, doi: 10.30972/bon.160158.
- [2] T. Dun-Yan, Z. Yang, and A.-B. Wang, "A review of geocarpy and amphicarpy in angiosperms, with special reference to their ecologi-cal adaptive significance," *Chinese J. Plant Ecol.*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 72–88, 2010, Accessed: Oct. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.plantecology.com/EN/abstract/abstract4614.shtml.
- Y. Jiang *et al.*, "High-Density Genetic Linkage Map Construction Using Whole-Genome Resequencing for Mapping QTLs of Resistance to Aspergillus flavus Infection in Peanut," *Front. Plant Sci.*, vol. 12, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.745408.
- [4] E. M. Temsch and J. Greilhuber, "Genome size variation in Arachis hypogaea and A. monticola re-evaluated," *Genome*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 449– 451, 2000, doi: 10.1139/g99-130.
- [5] W. Zhuang et al., "The genome of cultivated peanut provides insight into legume karyotypes, polyploid evolution and crop domestication," *Nat. Genet.*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 865–876, May 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0402-2.
- [6] A. Jayaprakash, R. R. Thanmalagan, A. Roy, A. Arunachalam, and P. Lakshmi, "Strategies to understand Aspergillus flavus resistance mechanism in Arachis hypogaea L.," *Curr. Plant Biol.*, vol. 20, p. 100123, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.cpb.2019.100123.
- [7] J. W. Dorner, "Biological control of aflatoxin contamination of crops," *Journal of Toxicology -Toxin Reviews*, vol. 23, no. 2–3. Taylor & Francis, pp. 425–450, 2004, doi: 10.1081/TXR-200027877.
- [8] I. Caceres *et al.*, "Aflatoxin Biosynthesis and Genetic Regulation: A Review," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 12, no. 3, p. 150, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.3390/toxins12030150.
- [9] T. Alam, D. J. Anco, and S. Rustgi, "Management of Aflatoxins in Peanut," Clemson, SC, Jun. 2020. doi: 10.34068/report7.
- L. Kiran, K. Kasturi, and R. K. R. S. Sambasiva, "Aflatoxins in Food and Feed: The Science of Safe Food," *Res. Rev. J. Food Sci. Technol.*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 6–11, 2014, Accessed: May 15, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/26478 7748.
- [11] Z. Weijian and S. A. Khan, "Obliging Tactics to Mitigate the Intricate Problem of Aflatoxin Contamination in Peanut: A Review," SDRP J. Food Sci. Technol., vol. 4, no. 9, pp. 986–1005, 2019, doi: 10.25177/JFST.4.9.RA.597.
- [12] A. M. Torres, G. G. Barros, S. A. Palacios, S. N. Chulze, and P. Battilani, "Review on pre- and post-harvest management of peanuts to minimize aflatoxin contamination," *Food Res. Int.*,

vol. 62, pp. 11–19, Aug. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2014.02.023.

- [13] M. K. Pandey et al., "Mitigating aflatoxin contamination in groundnut through a combination of genetic resistance and postharvest management practices," *Toxins*, vol. 11, no. 6. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, p. 315, Jun. 03, 2019, doi: 10.3390/toxins11060315.
- [14] D. Bhatnagar, K. Rajasekaran, G. Payne, R. Brown, J. Yu, and T. Cleveland, "The 'omics' tools: genomics, proteomics, metabolomics and their potential for solving the aflatoxin contamination problem," World Mycotoxin J., vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 3– 12, Feb. 2008, doi: 10.3920/wmj2008.x001.
- [15] G. Mallikarjuna, T. S. R. B. Rao, and P. B. Kirti, "Genetic engineering for peanut improvement: current status and prospects," *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, vol. 125, no. 3. Springer Netherlands, pp. 399–416, Jun. 01, 2016, doi: 10.1007/s11240-016-0966-9.
- [16] J. Ncube and M. Maphosa, "Current state of knowledge on groundnut aflatoxins and their management from a plant breeding perspective: Lessons for Africa," *Scientific African*, vol. 7. Elsevier, p. e00264, Mar. 01, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.sciaf.2020.e00264.
- [17] K. K. Pal, R. Dey, and K. V. B. R. Tilak, "Fungal Diseases of Groundnut: Control and Future Challenges," Springer, New York, NY, 2014, pp. 1– 29.
- [18] M. A. Klich, "Aspergillus flavus: The major producer of aflatoxin," *Molecular Plant Pathology*, vol. 8, no. 6. pp. 713–722, 2007, doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2007.00436.x.
- [19] F. Mokobi and S. Aryal, "Aspergillus flavus- An Overview," *Microbe Notes*, 2021. https://microbenotes.com/aspergillus-flavus/.
- [20] I. Podgórska-Kryszczuk, "Biological Control of Aspergillus flavus by the Yeast Aureobasidium pullulans In Vitro and on Tomato Fruit," *Plants*, vol. 12, no. 2, p. 236, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.3390/plants12020236.
- [21] S. Amaike and N. P. Keller, "Aspergillus flavus," Annual Review of Phytopathology, vol. 49. Annual Reviews, pp. 107–133, Aug. 12, 2011, doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-072910-095221.
- [22] R. E. Pettit, "Yellow mold and aflatoxin. in: Compendium of peanut diseases," (D.M. Porter, D.H. Smith R. Rodriguez-Kabana, eds) St. Paul MN Am. Phytopathol. Soc., pp. 35–36, 1984, Accessed: May 29, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://agris.fao.org/agrissearch/search.do?recordID=XF2016011165.
- [23] V. Kumar, M. S. Basu, and T. P. Rajendran, "Mycotoxin research and mycoflora in some commercially important agricultural commodities," Crop Prot., vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 891–

905, Jun. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.cropro.2007.12.011.

- [24] J. I. Pitt, S. K. Dyer, and S. McCammon, "Systemic invasion of developing peanut plants by Aspergillus flavus," *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 16–20, 1991, doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.1991.tb00558.x.
- [25] C. Woloshuk and K. Wise, "Purdue extension Aspergillus Ear Rot." Accessed: May 30, 2023.
 [Online]. Available: www.btny.purdue.edu/NC1025.
- J. J. (Jacob J. Taubenhaus, "A Study of the Black and the Yellow Molds of Ear Corn," 1920, Accessed: May 30, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://oaktrust.library.tamu.edu/handle/1969.1 /3619.
- [27] P. S. Ojiambo, P. Battilani, J. W. Cary, B. H. Blum, and I. Carbone, "Cultural and genetic approaches to manage aflatoxin contamination: Recent insights provide opportunities for improved control," *Phytopathology*, vol. 108, no. 9. American Phytopathological Society, pp. 1024– 1037, Sep. 01, 2018, doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-04-18-0134-RVW.
- [28] S. F. Marsh, "Preharvest Infection of Corn Silks and Kernels by Aspergillus flavus," *Phytopathology*, vol. 74, no. 11, p. 1284, 1984, doi: 10.1094/phyto-74-1284.
- [29] P. B. Marsh, K. Bollenbacher, J. P. San Antonio, and G. V. Merola, "Observations on Certain Fluorescent Spots in Raw Cotton Associated with the Growth of Microorganisms," *Text. Res. J.*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1007–1016, Dec. 1955, doi: 10.1177/004051755502501206.
- [30] R. Jaime-Garcia and P. J. Cotty, "Aflatoxin contamination of commercial cottonseed in South Texas," *Phytopathology*, vol. 93, no. 9, pp. 1190–1200, Aug. 2003, doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2003.93.9.1190.
- [31] M. A. Klich, "ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS INVOLVED IN PREHARVEST ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS INFECTION OF COTTONSEED," *Mycotoxins*, vol. 1988, no. 1Supplement, pp. 179–182, 1988, doi: 10.2520/myco1975.1988.1Supplement_179.
- [32] Q. A. Mandeel, "Fungal contamination of some imported spices," *Mycopathologia*, vol. 159, no. 2, pp. 291–298, Feb. 2005, doi: 10.1007/s11046-004-5496-z.
- P. Singh and P. J. Cotty, "Characterization of Aspergilli from dried red chilies (Capsicum spp.): Insights into the etiology of aflatoxin contamination," Int. J. Food Microbiol., vol. 289, pp. 145–153, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2018.08.025.
- [34] S. Akhund, A. Akram, N. Q. Hanif, R. Qureshi, F. Naz, and B. G. Nayyar, "Pre-harvest aflatoxins and Aspergillus flavus contamination in variable germplasms of red chillies from Kunri, Pakistan," *Mycotoxin Res.*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 147–155, May 2017, doi: 10.1007/s12550-017-0274-1.
- [35] F. Waliyar et al., "Post-harvest management of

aflatoxin contamination in groundnut," *World Mycotoxin Journal*, vol. 8, no. 2. Wageningen Academic Publishers, pp. 245–252, Dec. 08, 2015, doi: 10.3920/WMJ2014.1766.

- [36] R. E. Pettit and R. A. Taber, "Factors influencing aflatoxin accumulation in peanut kernels and the associated mycoflora.," *Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 1230–1234, 1968, doi: 10.1128/AEM.16.8.1230-1234.1968.
- [37] M. A. Klich, "Biogeography of Aspergillus Species in Soil and Litter," *Mycologia*, vol. 94, no. 1, p. 21, Jan. 2002, doi: 10.2307/3761842.
- [38] T. H. Sanders, R. J. Cole, P. D. Blankenship, and R. A. Hill, "Relation of Environmental Stress Duration to Aspergillus flavus Invasion and Aflatoxin Production in Preharvest Peanuts," *Peanut Sci.*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 90–93, Jul. 1985, doi: 10.3146/pnut.12.2.0011.
- [39] R. J. Cole, T. J. Sanders, J. W. Dorner, and P. D. Blankenship, "Environmental conditions required to induce pre-harvest concentration in groundnut. Summary of six years research," in *International Workshop on Aflatoxin Concentration in Groundnut*, 1989, pp. 279–287, Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://agris.fao.org/agrissearch/search.do?recordID=QX9000083.
- [40] S. W. Ali and S. Afzaal, "Aflatoxins in Pakistani foods: a serious threat to food safety.," J. Hyg. Eng. Des., vol. 9, no. January, pp. 20–25, 2014, Accessed: May 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://www.jhed.mk/filemanager/JHED Vol. 9/02. FQS/02. Full Paper - Shinawar Waseem Ali.pdf.
- [41] J. W. Dorner, R. J. Cole, T. H. Sanders, and P. D. Blankenship, "Interrelationship of kernel water activity, soil temperature, maturity, and phytoalexin production in preharvest aflatoxin contamination of drought-stressed peanuts," *Mycopathologia*, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 117–128, Feb. 1989, doi: 10.1007/BF00444034.
- [42] N. M. Barnett and A. W. Naylor, "Amino Acid and Protein Metabolism in Bermuda Grass During Water Stress," *Plant Physiol.*, vol. 41, no. 7, pp. 1222–1230, Sep. 1966, doi: 10.1104/pp.41.7.1222.
- [43] G. A. Payne and W. M. Hagler, "Effect of specific amino acids on growth and aflatoxin production by Aspergillus parasiticus and Aspergillus flavus in defined media," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 805–812, 1983, doi: 10.1128/aem.46.4.805-812.1983.
- [44] M. Schmidt-Heydt, R. Parra, R. Geisen, and N. Magan, "Modelling the relationship between environmental factors, transcriptional genes and deoxynivalenol mycotoxin production by strains of two Fusarium species," J. R. Soc. Interface, vol. 8, no. 54, pp. 117–126, Jan. 2011, doi: 10.1098/rsif.2010.0131.
- J. Yu *et al.*, "Tight control of mycotoxin biosynthesis gene expression in Aspergillus flavus by temperature as revealed by RNA-Seq," *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, vol. 322, no. 2. pp. 145–149, 2011, doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2011.02345.x.

- [46] X. Liu, X. Guan, F. Xing, C. Lv, X. Dai, and Y. Liu, "Effect of water activity and temperature on the growth of Aspergillus flavus, the expression of aflatoxin biosynthetic genes and aflatoxin production in shelled peanuts," *Food Control*, vol. 82, pp. 325–332, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.07.012.
- [47] A. Abdel-Hadi, M. Schmidt-Heydt, R. Parra, R. Geisen, and N. Magan, "A systems approach to model the relationship between aflatoxin gene cluster expression, environmental factors, growth and toxin production by Aspergillus flavus," J. R. Soc. Interface, vol. 9, no. 69, pp. 757–767, Apr. 2012, doi: 10.1098/rsif.2011.0482.
- [48] P. Soni *et al.*, "Functional Biology and Molecular Mechanisms of Host-Pathogen Interactions for Aflatoxin Contamination in Groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) and Maize (Zea mays L.)," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 11. Frontiers Media S.A., p. 227, Mar. 03, 2020, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.00227.
- [49] D. Bhatnagar, J. W. Cary, K. Ehrlich, J. Yu, and T. E. Cleveland, "Understanding the genetics of regulation of aflatoxin production and Aspergillus flavus development," *Mycopathologia*, vol. 162, no. 3. Springer, pp. 155–166, Sep. 2006, doi: 10.1007/s11046-006-0050-9.
- [50] S. Shabeer, S. Asad, A. Jamal, and A. Ali, "Aflatoxin Contamination, Its Impact and Management Strategies: An Updated Review," *Toxins*, vol. 14, no. 5. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, p. 307, Apr. 27, 2022, doi: 10.3390/toxins14050307.
- [51] M. Schmidt-Heydt, C. E. Rüfer, A. Abdel-Hadi, N. Magan, and R. Geisen, "The production of aflatoxin B1 or G1 by Aspergillus parasiticus at various combinations of temperature and water activity is related to the ratio of aflS to aflR expression," *Mycotoxin Res.*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 241–246, Nov. 2010, doi: 10.1007/s12550-010-0062-7.
- [52] S. P. Kale, L. Milde, M. K. Trapp, J. C. Frisvad, N. P. Keller, and J. W. Bok, "Requirement of LaeA for secondary metabolism and sclerotial production in Aspergillus flavus," *Fungal Genet. Biol.*, vol. 45, no. 10, pp. 1422–1429, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.fgb.2008.06.009.
- [53] E. Diao, H. Dong, H. Hou, Z. Zhang, N. Ji, and W. Ma, "Factors Influencing Aflatoxin Contamination in Before and After Harvest Peanuts: A Review," J. Food Res., vol. 4, no. 1, p. 148, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.5539/jfr.v4n1p148.
- [54] G. A. Payne, "Reduction of Aflatoxin Contamination in Corn by Irrigation and Tillage," *Phytopathology*, vol. 76, no. 7, p. 679, 1986, doi: 10.1094/phyto-76-679.
- [55] R. A. Hill, P. D. Blankenship, R. J. Cole, and T. H. Sanders, "Effects of soil moisture and temperature on preharvest invasion of peanuts by the Aspergillus flavus group and subsequent aflatoxin development," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 628–633, 1983, doi: 10.1128/aem.45.2.628-633.1983.

- [56] F. Waliyar, A. Traoré, D. Fatondji, and B. R. Ntare, "Effect of Irrigation Interval, Planting Date, and Cultivar on Aspergillus flavus and Aflatoxin Contamination of Peanut in a Sandy Soil of Niger," *Peanut Sci.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 79–84, Jul. 2003, doi: 10.3146/pnut.30.2.0002.
- [57] H. Kebede, H. K. Abbas, D. K. Fisher, and N. Bellaloui, "Relationship between aflatoxin contamination and physiological responses of corn plants under drought and heat stress," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 1385–1403, Nov. 2012, doi: 10.3390/toxins4111385.
- [58] CAC-Codex Alimentarius Commission, "Code of practice for the prevention and reduction of aflatoxin contamination in tree nuts," Cac/Rcp, pp. 1–14, 2006, [Online]. Available: http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG= Search&q=intitle:CODE+OF+PRACTICE+FOR+THE+ PREVENTION+AND+REDUCTION+OF+AFLATOXIN+ CONTAMINATION+IN+TREE+NUTS#1%5Cnhttp:// scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search &q=intitle:Code+of+practice+for+the+prevention +.
- [59] I. Lavkor and I. Var, "The Control of Aflatoxin Contamination at Harvest, Drying, Pre- Storage and Storage Periods in Peanut: The New Approach," in Aflatoxin-Control, Analysis, Detection and Health Risks, InTech, 2017.
- [60] Q. Kong, S. Shan, Q. Liu, X. Wang, and F. Yu, "Biocontrol of Aspergillus flavus on peanut kernels by use of a strain of marine Bacillus megaterium," Int. J. Food Microbiol., vol. 139, no. 1–2, pp. 31–35, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.01.036.
- [61] W. Ma and E. T. Johnson, "Natural flavour (E,E)-2,4-heptadienal as a potential fumigant for control of Aspergillus flavus in stored peanut seeds: Finding new antifungal agents based on preservative sorbic acid," *Food Control*, vol. 124, p. 107938, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2021.107938.
- [62] J. W. Dorner, R. J. Cole, W. J. Connick, D. J. Daigle, M. R. McGuire, and B. S. Shasha, "Evaluation of biological control formulations to reduce aflatoxin contamination in peanuts," *Biol. Control*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 318–324, 2003, doi: 10.1016/S1049-9644(02)00139-1.
- [63] J. W. Dorner, "Management and prevention of mycotoxins in peanuts," Food Addit. Contam. -Part A Chem. Anal. Control. Expo. Risk Assess., vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 203–208, 2008, doi: 10.1080/02652030701658357.
- [64] J. I. Pitt and A. D. Hocking, "Mycotoxins in Australia: biocontrol of aflatoxin in peanuts," Mycopathologia, vol. 162, no. 3, pp. 233–243, Sep. 2006, doi: 10.1007/s11046-006-0059-0.
- [65] K. L. Bowen and T. P. Mack, "Relationship of Damage from the Lesser Cornstalk Borer to Aspergillus flavus Contamination in Peanuts2," J. Entomol. Sci., vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 29–42, Jan. 1993, doi: 10.18474/0749-8004-28.1.29.
- [66] U. EPA Office of Pesticide Programs, "Biopesticides Fact Sheet for 1-Octen-3-ol."

- [67] C. K. Mutegi, H. K. Ngugi, S. L. Hendriks, and R. B. Jones, "Factors associated with the incidence of Aspergillus section Flavi and aflatoxin contamination of peanuts in the Busia and Homa bay districts of western Kenya," *Plant Pathol.*, vol. 61, no. 6, pp. 1143–1153, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3059.2012.02597.x.
- [68] A. Abraham, V. Saka, W. Mhango, S. M. C. Njoroge, and R. Brandenburg, "Effect of crop rotation on aflatoxin contamination in groundnuts.," *Fifth African High. Educ. Week RUFORUM Bienn. Conf. 2016, "Linking Agric. Univ. with Civ. Soc. Priv. Sect. Gov. other stakeholders Support Agric. Dev. Africa", Cape Town, South Afr*, vol. 14, no. 14, pp. 173–178, 2016, Accessed: May 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://repository.ruforum.org.
- [69] B. W. Horn and J. W. Dorner, "Soil populations of Aspergillus species from section Flavi along a transect through peanut-growing regions of the United States," *Mycologia*, vol. 90, no. 5, pp. 767– 776, Sep. 1998, doi: 10.1080/00275514.1998.12026969.
- [70] F. Waliar et al., "Effect of soil application of lime, Crop residue and Bio control agents on preharvest Aspergillus flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination in groundnut," in International conference on groundnut management and genomic, 5-10 November, 2006, Gungdon Hotel, Guagzhou, China, 2006, p. 45.
- [71] E. Guchi, "Aflatoxin Contamination in Groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) Caused by Aspergillus Species in Ethiopia," J. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 11–19, 2015, doi: 10.12691/jaem-3-1-3.
- [72] E. Tumukunde, R. Xie, and S. Wang, "Updates on the Functions and Molecular Mechanisms of the Genes Involved in Aspergillus flavus Development and Biosynthesis of Aflatoxins," J. Fungi, vol. 7, no. 8, p. 666, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.3390/jof7080666.
- [73] D. R. Georgianna and G. A. Payne, "Genetic regulation of aflatoxin biosynthesis: From gene to genome," *Fungal Genet. Biol.*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 113–125, Feb. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.FGB.2008.10.011.
- [74] A. J. Birch, "Biosynthesis of polyketides and related compounds," *Science*, vol. 156, no. 3772. pp. 202–206, 1967, doi: 10.1126/science.156.3772.202.
- [75] R. Khan, F. M. Ghazali, N. A. Mahyudin, and N. I. P. Samsudin, "Aflatoxin Biosynthesis, Genetic Regulation, Toxicity, and Control Strategies: A Review," J. Fungi, vol. 7, no. 8, p. 606, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.3390/jof7080606.
- [76] P. K. Chang, "The Aspergillus parasiticus protein AFLJ interacts with the aflatoxin pathway-specific regulator AFLR," *Mol. Genet. Genomics*, vol. 268, no. 6, pp. 711–719, Mar. 2003, doi: 10.1007/s00438-003-0809-3.
- [77] J. E. Flaherty and G. A. Payne, "Overexpression of aflR leads to upregulation of pathway gene transcription and increased aflatoxin production

in Aspergillus flavus," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 63, no. 10, pp. 3995–4000, 1997, doi: 10.1128/aem.63.10.3995-4000.1997.

- [78] J. W. Cary, K. C. Ehrlich, M. Wright, P. K. Chang, and D. Bhatnagar, "Generation of aflR disruption mutants of Aspergillus parasiticus," *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 680– 684, 2000, doi: 10.1007/s002530000319.
- [79] P. Dhanamjayulu, R. B. Boga, and A. Mehta, "Inhibition of aflatoxin B1 biosynthesis and down regulation of aflR and aflB genes in presence of benzimidazole derivatives without impairing the growth of Aspergillus flavus," *Toxicon*, vol. 170, pp. 60–67, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2019.09.018.
- [80] W. Du, G. R. Obrian, and G. A. Payne, "Function and regulation of aflJ in the accumulation of aflatoxin early pathway intermediate in Aspergillus flavus," in *Food Additives and Contaminants*, Oct. 2007, vol. 24, no. 10, pp. 1043–1050, doi: 10.1080/02652030701513826.
- [81] J. Cary *et al.*, "The Aspergillus flavus Homeobox Gene, hbx1, Is Required for Development and Aflatoxin Production," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 9, no. 10, p. 315, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.3390/toxins9100315.
- [82] J. W. Cary et al., "The Transcriptional Regulator Hbx1 Affects the Expression of Thousands of Genes in the Aflatoxin-Producing Fungus Aspergillus flavus," G3 Genes/Genomes/Genetics, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 167–178, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1534/g3.118.200870.
- [83] M. K. Gilbert, B. M. Mack, Q. Wei, J. M. Bland, D. Bhatnagar, and J. W. Cary, "RNA sequencing of an nsdC mutant reveals global regulation of secondary metabolic gene clusters in Aspergillus flavus," *Microbiol. Res.*, vol. 182, pp. 150–161, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2015.08.007.
- [84] J. W. Cary et al., "NsdC and NsdD Affect Aspergillus flavus Morphogenesis and Aflatoxin Production," Eukaryot. Cell, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 1104–1111, Sep. 2012, doi: 10.1128/EC.00069-12.
- [85] Z. Zhu, M. Yang, Y. Bai, F. Ge, and S. Wang, "Antioxidant-related catalase <scp>CTA1</scp> regulates development, aflatoxin biosynthesis, and virulence in pathogenic fungus Aspergillus flavus," Environ. Microbiol., vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 2792–2810, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.15011.
- [86] G. Yao et al., "Essential APSES Transcription Factors for Mycotoxin Synthesis, Fungal Development, and Pathogenicity in Aspergillus flavus," Front. Microbiol., vol. 8, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.02277.
- [87] X. Wang, W. Zha, L. Liang, O. E. Fasoyin, L. Wu, and S. Wang, "The bZIP Transcription Factor AflRsmA Regulates Aflatoxin B1 Biosynthesis, Oxidative Stress Response and Sclerotium Formation in Aspergillus flavus," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 12, no. 4, p. 271, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.3390/toxins12040271.

- [88] F. Zhang et al., "The Stress Response Regulator AflSkn7 Influences Morphological Development, Stress Response, and Pathogenicity in the Fungus Aspergillus flavus," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 8, no. 7, p. 202, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.3390/toxins8070202.
- [89] Y. Hu et al., "The PHD Transcription Factor Rum1 Regulates Morphogenesis and Aflatoxin Biosynthesis in Aspergillus flavus," Toxins (Basel)., vol. 10, no. 7, p. 301, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.3390/toxins10070301.
- [90] J. Yuan et al., "HexA is required for growth, aflatoxin biosynthesis and virulence in Aspergillus flavus," BMC Mol. Biol., vol. 20, no. 1, p. 4, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1186/s12867-019-0121-3.
- [91] F. Zhang et al., "Contribution of peroxisomal protein importer AflPex5 to development and pathogenesis in the fungus Aspergillus flavus," *Curr. Genet.*, vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 1335–1348, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1007/s00294-018-0851-7.
- [92] Y. Wang et al., "Molecular and structural basis of nucleoside diphosphate kinase-mediated regulation of spore and sclerotia development in the fungus Aspergillus flavus," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 294, no. 33, pp. 12415–12431, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.007505.
- [93] R. M. Duran, J. W. Cary, and A. M. Calvo, "Production of cyclopiazonic acid, aflatrem, and aflatoxin by Aspergillus flavus is regulated by veA, a gene necessary for sclerotial formation," *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 1158– 1168, Jan. 2007, doi: 10.1007/s00253-006-0581-5.
- [94] P.-K. Chang, L. L. Scharfenstein, K. C. Ehrlich, Q. Wei, D. Bhatnagar, and B. F. Ingber, "Effects of laeA deletion on Aspergillus flavus conidial development and hydrophobicity may contribute to loss of aflatoxin production," *Fungal Biol.*, vol. 116, no. 2, pp. 298–307, Feb. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.funbio.2011.12.003.
- [95] S. Amaike, N. K.-E. cell, and undefined 2009, "Distinct Roles for VeA and LaeA in Development and Pathogenesis of Aspergillus flavus," Am Soc MicrobiolS Amaike, NP KellerEukaryotic cell, 2009•Am Soc Microbiol, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 1051– 1060, Jul. 2009, doi: 10.1128/EC.00088-09.
- [96] X. Zhao, J. E. Spraker, J. W. Bok, T. Velk, Z.-M. He, and N. P. Keller, "A Cellular Fusion Cascade Regulated by LaeA Is Required for Sclerotial Development in Aspergillus flavus," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01925.
- [97] Q.-Q. Zhi et al., "The Kinetochore Protein Spc105, a Novel Interaction Partner of LaeA, Regulates Development and Secondary Metabolism in Aspergillus flavus," Front. Microbiol., vol. 10, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.01881.
- [98] S. N. Nigam et al., "Breeding Peanut for Resistance to Aflatoxin Contamination at ICRISAT," Peanut Sci., vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 42–49, Jan. 2009, doi: 10.3146/at07-008.1.
- [99] S. N. Nayak *et al.*, "Aspergillus flavus infection triggered immune responses and host-pathogen

cross-talks in groundnut during in-vitro seed colonization," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–14, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09260-8.

- [100] H. D. Upadhyaya and F. Waliyar, "Genetic Enhancement of Groundnut for Resistance to Aflatoxin Contamination," pp. 29–36, 2002.
- [101] B. Yu et al., "Identification of Two Novel Peanut Genotypes Resistant to Aflatoxin Production and Their SNP Markers Associated with Resistance," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 12, no. 3, p. 156, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.3390/toxins12030156.
- [102] J. C. Fountain *et al.*, "Resistance to Aspergillus flavus in maize and peanut: Molecular biology, breeding, environmental stress, and future perspectives," *Crop J.*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 229–237, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.cj.2015.02.003.
- [103] P. Sudhakar, P. Latha, M. Babitha, P. V Reddy, and P. H. Naidu, "Relationship of drought tolerance traits with aflatoxin contamination in groundnut," *Indian J. Plant Physiol.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 261– 265, 2007, Accessed: May 31, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://eprints.icrisat.ac.in/2787/.
- [104] L. Commey *et al.*, "Peanut seed coat acts as a physical and biochemical barrier against aspergillus flavus infection," *J. Fungi*, vol. 7, no. 12, 2021, doi: 10.3390/jof7121000.
- [105] J. C. LaPrade, J. A. Bartz, A. J. Norden, and T. J. Demuynk, "Correlation of peanut seed-coat surface wax accumulations with tolerance to colonization by aspergillus flavus," *Am. Peanut Res. Educ. Assoc.*, vol. 5, pp. 89–95, 1973.
- [106] R. A. Taber, R. E. Pettit, C. R. Benedict, J. W. Dieckert, and D. . Kertring, "Comparison of Aspergillus flavus tolerant and susceptible lines. I. Light microscope investigation," *Am. Peanut Res. Edu. Assoc.*, vol. 5, p. 2006, 1973.
- P. M. Guimarães *et al.*, "Global transcriptome analysis of two wild relatives of peanut under drought and fungi infection," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 13, no. 1, Aug. 2012, doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-13-387.
- [108] X. Liang, R. Pan, and G. Zhou, "Study on the relationship of wax and cutin layers in peanut seeds and resistance to invasion and aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus. 11: 11-14.," J. Trop. Subtrop. Bot., vol. 11, pp. 11–14, 2003.
- [109] M. M. Win, A. Abdul-Hamid, B. S. Baharin, F. Anwar, and N. Saari, "Effects of roasting on phenolics composition and antioxidant activity of peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) kernel flour," *Eur. Food Res. Technol.*, vol. 233, no. 4, pp. 599–608, Oct. 2011, doi: 10.1007/s00217-011-1544-3.
- [110] V. S. Sobolev, "Localized production of phytoalexins by peanut (Arachis hypogaea) kernels in response to invasion by Aspergillus species," J. Agric. Food Chem., vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 1949–1954, Mar. 2008, doi: 10.1021/jf703595w.
- [111] J. H. Kim, B. C. Campbell, N. E. Mahoney, K. L. Chan, and R. J. Molyneux, "Identification of phenolics for control of Aspërgillus flavus using Saccharomyces cerevisiae in a model target-gene

bioassay," J. Agric. Food Chem., vol. 52, no. 26, pp. 7814–7821, Dec. 2004, doi: 10.1021/jf0487093.

- M. M. Ahmad, F. Qamar, M. Saifi, and M. Z.
 Abdin, "Natural inhibitors: A sustainable way to combat aflatoxins," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol.
 13. Frontiers Media S.A., p. 993834, Dec. 08, 2022, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.993834.
- [113] S. S. T. Hua, O. K. Grosjean, and J. L. Baker, "Inhibition of aflatoxin biosynthesis by phenolic compounds," *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 289–291, 1999, doi: 10.1046/j.1472-765X.1999.00635.x.
- D. L. Lindsey and R. B. Turner, "Inhibition of growth of Aspergillus flavus and Trichoderma viride by peanut embryos," *Mycopathologia*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 149–152, Jan. 1975, doi: 10.1007/BF00491499.
- [115] X. Liang, R. Pan, and G. Zhou, "Relationship of Trypsin Inhibitor in Peanut Seed and Resistance to Aspergillus flavus Invasion," *Acta Agron Sin*, vol. 29, no. 02, pp. 295–299, Mar. 2003, Accessed: May 31, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://zwxb.chinacrops.org/CN/abstract/abstrac t908.shtml.
- [116] R. B. Turner, D. L. Lindsey, D. D. Davis, and R. D. Bishop, "Isolation and identification of 5,7dimethoxyisoflavone, an inhibitor of Aspergillus flavus from peanuts," *Mycopathologia*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 39–40, Jan. 1975, doi: 10.1007/BF00431177.
- [117] S. Sharma *et al.*, "Metabolite profiling identified pipecolic acid as an important component of peanut seed resistance against Aspergillus flavus infection," *J. Hazard. Mater.*, vol. 404, p. 124155, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124155.
- [118] S. Pavan, E. Jacobsen, R. G. F. Visser, and Y. Bai, "Loss of susceptibility as a novel breeding strategy for durable and broad-spectrum resistance," *Molecular Breeding*, vol. 25, no. 1. Springer, pp. 1–12, Dec. 15, 2010, doi: 10.1007/s11032-009-9323-6.
- [119] S. Hou, Y. Yang, D. Wu, and C. Zhang, "Plant immunity," *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, vol. 6, no. 6. Taylor & Francis, pp. 794–799, 2011, doi: 10.4161/psb.6.6.15143.
- [120] H. Song et al., "Comparative analysis of NBS-LRR genes and their response to Aspergillus flavus in Arachis," PLoS One, vol. 12, no. 2, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171181.
- [121] Y. Chen *et al.*, "Dynamics in the resistant and susceptible peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) root transcriptome on infection with the Ralstonia solanacearum," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 15, no. 1, May 2014, doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-15-1078.
- [122] W. Korani, Y. Chu, C. C. Holbrook, and P. Ozias-Akins, "Insight into genes regulating postharvest Aflatoxin contamination of tetraploid peanut from transcriptional profiling," *Genetics*, vol. 209, no. 1, pp. 143–156, May 2018, doi: 10.1534/genetics.118.300478.

- [123] X. Liang, M. Luo, and B. Z. Guo, "Resistance Mechanisms to Aspergillus flavus Infection and Aflatoxin Contamination in Peanut (Arachis hypogaea)," *Plant Pathol. J.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 115–124, 2006, doi: 10.3923/ppj.2006.115.124.
- [124] X. Liang, "Studies on the Mechanism and Inheritance of Resistance to Aspergillus Flavus Invasion and Aflatoxin Production in Peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.)," University of South China University, Guangzhou, China, 2002.
- [125] T. Jayashree and C. Subramanyam, "Oxidative stress as a prerequisite for aflatoxin production by Aspergillus parasiticus," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 981–985, Nov. 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0891-5849(00)00398-1.
- [126] X. Q. Liang, M. Luo, and B. Z. Guo, "Resistance Mechanisms to Aspergillus flavus Infection and Aflatoxin Contamination in Peanut (Arachis hypogaea)," *Plant Pathol. J.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 115–124, 2006, doi: 10.3923/ppj.2006.115.124.
- [127] K. E. Hammond-Kosack and J. D. G. Jones, "Resistance gene-dependent plant defense responses," *Plant Cell*, vol. 8, no. 10. Plant Cell, pp. 1773–1791, Oct. 1996, doi: 10.1105/tpc.8.10.1773.
- [128] G. B. Burow, H. W. Gardner, and N. P. Keller, "A peanut seed lipoxygenase responsive to Aspergillus colonization," *Plant Mol. Biol.*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 689–701, 2000, doi: 10.1023/A:1006361305703/METRICS.
- [129] X. Liang, R. Pan, and G. Zhou, "Changes of some biochemical substances in peanut seeds under infection of Aspergillus flavus and their role in resistance to seed invasion," *Chinese J. oil Crop Sci.*, no. 23, pp. 26–30, 2001, Accessed: May 31, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://europepmc.org/article/cba/349757.
- [131] K. Prasad, P. Bhatnagar-Mathur, F. Waliyar, and K. K. Sharma, "Overexpression of a chitinase gene in transgenic peanut confers enhanced resistance to major soil borne and foliar fungal pathogens," J. Plant Biochem. Biotechnol., vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 222–233, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1007/s13562-012-0155-9.
- [132] H. R. Wotton and R. N. Strange, "Circumstantial Evidence for Phytoalexin Involvement in the Resistance of Peanuts to Aspergillus flavus," *Microbiology*, vol. 131, no. 3, pp. 487–494, Mar. 1985, doi: 10.1099/00221287-131-3-487.
- [133] M. K. Arora and R. N. Strange, "Phytoalexin accumulation in groundnuts in response to wounding," *Plant Sci.*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 157–163, 1991, doi: 10.1016/0168-9452(91)90194-D.
- [134] X. M. Li, Z. Y. Li, Y. D. Wang, J. Q. Wang, and P. L. Yang, "Quercetin inhibits the proliferation and

aflatoxins biosynthesis of aspergillus flavus," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 11, no. 3, 2019, doi: 10.3390/toxins11030154.

- [135] H. Wang et al., "Functional Genomic Analysis of Aspergillus flavus Interacting with Resistant and Susceptible Peanut," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 8, no. 2, p. 46, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.3390/toxins8020046.
- [136] B. Yu et al., "Identification of genomic regions and diagnostic markers for resistance to aflatoxin contamination in peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.)," BMC Genet., vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 1–13, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1186/s12863-019-0734-z.
- [137] V. K. Mehan, D. McDonald, N. Ramakrishna, and J. H. Williams, "Effects of Genotype and Date of Harvest on Infection of Peanut Seed by Aspergillus flavus and Subsequent Contamination with Aflatoxin1," *Peanut Sci.*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 46–50, Jul. 1986, doi: 10.3146/i0095-3679-13-2-1.
- [138] R. Asis, D. L. Barrionuevo, L. M. Giorda, M. L. Nores, and M. A. Aldao, "Aflatoxin production in six peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) genotypes infected with Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus, isolated from peanut production areas of Cordoba, Argentina," J. Agric. Food Chem., vol. 53, no. 23, pp. 9274–9280, 2005, doi: 10.1021/jf051259+.
- [139] V. Mehan, D. McDonald, S. Nigam, and B. Lalitha, "Groundnut cultivars with seed resistant to invasion by Aspergillus flavus," *Oleagineux*, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 501–507, 1981.
- C. T. Kisyombe, M. K. Beute, and G. A. Payne, "Field Evaluation of Peanut Genotypes for Resistance to Infection by Aspergillus parasiticus 1,2," *Peanut Sci.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 12–17, Jan. 1985, doi: 10.3146/pnut.12.1.0004.
- [141] S. N. Nigam et al., "Breeding Peanut for Resistance to Aflatoxin Contamination at ICRISAT," Peanut Sci., vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 42–49, Jan. 2009, doi: 10.3146/AT07-008.1.
- [142] X. Zhao *et al.*, "Transcriptome and proteome analyses of resistant preharvest peanut seed coat in response to Aspergillus flavus infection," *Electron. J. Biotechnol.*, vol. 39, pp. 82–90, May 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ejbt.2019.03.003.
- [143] X. Liang, G. Zhou, Y. Hong, X. Chen, H. Liu, and S. Li, "Overview of Research Progress on Peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) Host Resistance to Aflatoxin Contamination and Genomics at the Guangdong Academy of Agricultural Sciences," *Peanut Sci.*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 29–34, 2009, doi: 10.3146/at07-003.1.
- B. Yu et al., "Identification and application of a candidate gene AhAftr1 for aflatoxin production resistance in peanut seed (Arachis hypogaea L.)," J. Adv. Res., Sep. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.jare.2023.09.014.
- [145] S. A. Khan *et al.*, "High-density SNP map facilitates fine mapping of QTLs and candidate genes discovery for Aspergillus flavus resistance in peanut (Arachis hypogaea)," *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, vol. 133, no. 7, pp. 2239–2257, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1007/s00122-020-03594-0.

- [146] G. Jin et al., "Identification and Pyramiding Major QTL Loci for Simultaneously Enhancing Aflatoxin Resistance and Yield Components in Peanut," Genes (Basel)., vol. 14, no. 3, p. 625, Mar. 2023, doi: 10.3390/genes14030625.
- [147] Y. Ding *et al.*, "Comprehensive evaluation of Chinese peanut mini-mini core collection and QTL mapping for aflatoxin resistance," *BMC Plant Biol.*, vol. 22, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.1186/s12870-022-03582-0.
- [148] T. Wang, E. Zhang, X. Chen, L. Li, and X. Liang, "Identification of seed proteins associated with resistance to pre-harvested aflatoxin contamination in peanut (Arachis hypogaea L)," *BMC Plant Biol.*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 267, Dec. 2010, doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-10-267.
- [149] B. Guo *et al.*, "Gene Expression Profiling and Identification of Resistance Genes to Aspergillus flavus Infection in Peanut through EST and Microarray Strategies," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 3, no. 7, pp. 737–753, Jun. 2011, doi: 10.3390/toxins3070737.
- [150] H. Wang et al., "Comparative transcript profiling of resistant and susceptible peanut post-harvest seeds in response to aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus," BMC Plant Biol., vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1–16, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.1186/s12870-016-0738-z.
- [151] A. Jayaprakash, A. Roy, R. R. Thanmalagan, A. Arunachalam, and L. PTV, "Immune response gene coexpression network analysis of Arachis hypogaea infected with Aspergillus flavus," *Genomics*, vol. 113, no. 5, pp. 2977–2988, Sep. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2021.06.027.
- [152] M. Cui *et al.*, "Gene Co-expression Network Analysis of the Comparative Transcriptome Identifies Hub Genes Associated With Resistance to Aspergillus flavus L. in Cultivated Peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.)," *Front. Plant Sci.*, vol. 13, p. 899177, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2022.899177.
- [153] Y. Wang et al., "Transcriptomic and Metabolomic Analyses of the Response of Resistant Peanut Seeds to Aspergillus flavus Infection," *Toxins* (*Basel*)., vol. 15, no. 7, p. 414, Jun. 2023, doi: 10.3390/toxins15070414.
- [154] K. K. Sharma *et al.*, "Peanuts that keep aflatoxin at bay: a threshold that matters," *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 1024–1033, May 2018, doi: 10.1111/pbi.12846.
- [155] K. Prasad *et al.*, "Multiplexed Host-Induced Gene Silencing of Aspergillus flavus Genes Confers Aflatoxin Resistance in Groundnut," *Toxins* (*Basel*)., vol. 15, no. 5, p. 319, May 2023, doi: 10.3390/toxins15050319.
- [156] I. L. Power, P. C. Faustinelli, V. A. Orner, V. S. Sobolev, and R. S. Arias, "Analysis of small RNA populations generated in peanut leaves after exogenous application of dsRNA and dsDNA targeting aflatoxin synthesis genes," *Sci. Reports* 2020 101, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–12, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-70618-6.

- [157] R. S. Arias, P. M. Dang, and V. S. Sobolev, "RNAimediated control of aflatoxins in peanut: Method to analyze mycotoxin production and transgene expression in the peanut/aspergillus pathosystem," J. Vis. Exp., vol. 2015, no. 106, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.3791/53398.
- [158] C. Xie et al., "Overexpression of ARAhPR10, a Member of the PR10 Family, Decreases Levels of Aspergillus flavus Infection in Peanut Seeds," Am. J. Plant Sci., vol. 04, no. 03, pp. 602–607, Mar. 2013, doi: 10.4236/ajps.2013.43079.
- [159] S. Sundaresha *et al.*, "Enhanced protection against two major fungal pathogens of groundnut, Cercospora arachidicola and Aspergillus flavus in transgenic groundnut overexpressing a tobacco β 1–3 glucanase," *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.*, vol. 126, no. 4, pp. 497–508, Apr. 2010, doi: 10.1007/s10658-009-9556-6.
- [160] B. Liang et al., "Overexpression of the First Peanut-Susceptible Gene, AhS5H1 or AhS5H2, Enhanced Susceptibility to Pst DC3000 in Arabidopsis," Int. J. Mol. Sci., vol. 24, no. 18, p. 14210, Sep. 2023, doi: 10.3390/ijms241814210.
- [161] J. O. Masanga, J. M. Matheka, R. A. Omer, S. C. Ommeh, E. O. Monda, and A. E. Alakonya, "Downregulation of transcription factor aflR in Aspergillus flavus confers reduction to aflatoxin accumulation in transgenic maize with alteration of host plant architecture," *Plant Cell Rep.*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 1379–1387, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1007/s00299-015-1794-9.
- [162] D. Thakare, J. Zhang, R. A. Wing, P. J. Cotty, and M. A. Schmidt, "Aflatoxin-free transgenic maize using host-induced gene silencing," *Sci. Adv.*, vol. 3, no. 3, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1602382.
- [163] M. K. Gilbert *et al.*, "RNA interference-based silencing of the alpha-amylase (amy1) gene in Aspergillus flavus decreases fungal growth and aflatoxin production in maize kernels," *Planta*, vol. 247, no. 6, pp. 1465–1473, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1007/s00425-018-2875-0.
- [164] Y. Raruang *et al.*, "Targeting the Aspergillus flavus p2c gene through host-induced gene silencing reduces A. flavus infection and aflatoxin contamination in transgenic maize," *Front. Plant Sci.*, vol. 14, May 2023, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2023.1150086.
- [165] Y. Raruang *et al.*, "Host Induced Gene Silencing Targeting Aspergillus flavus aflM Reduced Aflatoxin Contamination in Transgenic Maize Under Field Conditions," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 11, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.00754.
- [166] O. Omolehin *et al.*, "Resistance to Aflatoxin Accumulation in Maize Mediated by Host-Induced Silencing of the Aspergillus flavus Alkaline Protease (alk) Gene," *J. Fungi*, vol. 7, no. 11, p. 904, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.3390/jof7110904.
- [167] A. F. Bent and D. Mackey, "Elicitors, Effectors, and R Genes: The New Paradigm and a Lifetime Supply of Questions," Annu. Rev. Phytopathol., vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 399–436, Sep. 2007, doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.45.062806.094427.

- [168] S. M. Traore *et al.*, "Genome-wide identification of mlo genes in the cultivated peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.)," *Euphytica*, vol. 217, no. 4, pp. 1– 10, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1007/s10681-021-02792-1.
- [169] H. Garcia-Ruiz, B. Szurek, and G. Van den Ackerveken, "Stop helping pathogens: engineering plant susceptibility genes for durable resistance," *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, vol. 70. Elsevier Current Trends, pp. 187–195, Aug. 01, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2021.05.005.
- [170] C. C. N. Van Schie and F. L. W. Takken, "Susceptibility genes 101: How to be a good host," Annu. Rev. Phytopathol., vol. 52, pp. 551– 581, 2014, doi: 10.1146/ANNUREV-PHYTO-102313-045854.
- [171] S. Kusch and R. Panstruga, "mlo -Based Resistance: An Apparently Universal 'Weapon' to Defeat Powdery Mildew Disease," *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact.*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 179–189, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1094/MPMI-12-16-0255-CR.
- [172] M. Van Damme, R. P. Huibers, J. Elberse, and G. Van den Ackerveken, "Arabidopsis DMR6 encodes a putative 2OG-Fe(II) oxygenase that is defenseassociated but required for susceptibility to downy mildew," *Plant J.*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 785– 793, Jun. 2008, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2008.03427.x.
- [173] J. Streubel, C. Pesce, M. Hutin, R. Koebnik, J. Boch, and B. Szurek, "Five phylogenetically close rice SWEET genes confer TAL effector-mediated susceptibility to Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae," *New Phytol.*, vol. 200, no. 3, pp. 808–819, Nov. 2013, doi: 10.1111/nph.12411.
- [174] L. Q. Chen, "SWEET sugar transporters for phloem transport and pathogen nutrition," *New Phytol.*, vol. 201, no. 4, pp. 1150–1155, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1111/NPH.12445.
- [175] T. Langner, S. Kamoun, and K. Belhaj, "CRISPR Crops: Plant genome editing toward disease resistance," Annual Review of Phytopathology, vol. 56. Annual Reviews, pp. 479–512, Aug. 27, 2018, doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-080417-050158.
- [176] E. Koseoglou, J. M. van der Wolf, R. G. F. Visser, and Y. Bai, "Susceptibility reversed: modified plant susceptibility genes for resistance to bacteria," *Trends Plant Sci.*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 69– 79, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2021.07.018.
- [177] B. J. Galletta and N. M. Rusan, "A yeast twohybrid approach for probing protein-protein interactions at the centrosome," *Methods Cell Biol.*, vol. 129, pp. 251–277, 2015, doi: 10.1016/bs.mcb.2015.03.012.
- [178] H. A. Y. Gibriel, B. P. H. J. Thomma, and M. F. Seidl, "The Age of Effectors: Genome-Based Discovery and Applications," *Phytopathology*®, vol. 106, no. 10, pp. 1206–1212, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-02-16-0110-FI.
- [179] A. Mores et al., "Genomic Approaches to Identify Molecular Bases of Crop Resistance to Diseases and to Develop Future Breeding Strategies," Int. J. Mol. Sci., vol. 22, no. 11, p. 5423, May 2021, doi:

10.3390/ijms22115423.

- [180] S. S.-A. Zaidi, M. S. Mukhtar, and S. Mansoor, "Genome Editing: Targeting Susceptibility Genes for Plant Disease Resistance," *Trends Biotechnol.*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 898–906, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2018.04.005.
- [181] V. S. Kamburova *et al.*, "Genome Editing in Plants: An Overview of Tools and Applications," *International Journal of Agronomy*, vol. 2017. Hindawi Limited, 2017, doi: 10.1155/2017/7315351.
- [182] G. D. Barka and J. Lee, "Advances in S gene targeted genome-editing and its applicability to disease resistance breeding in selected Solanaceae crop plants," *Bioengineered*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 14646–14666, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.1080/21655979.2022.2099599.
- [183] K. Yin and J. L. Qiu, "Genome editing for plant disease resistance: Applications and perspectives," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 374, no. 1767. The Royal Society, Mar. 03, 2019, doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0322.
- [184] R. R. Tapia, C. R. Barbey, S. Chandra, K. M. Folta, V. M. Whitaker, and S. Lee, "Evolution of the MLO gene families in octoploid strawberry (Fragaria × ananassa) and progenitor diploid species identified potential genes for strawberry powdery mildew resistance," *Hortic. Res.*, vol. 8, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41438-021-00587-y.
- [185] M. Appiano et al., "Monocot and dicot MLO powdery mildew susceptibility factors are functionally conserved in spite of the evolution of class-specific molecular features," BMC Plant Biol., vol. 15, no. 1, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1186/s12870-015-0639-6.
- [186] V. Nekrasov, C. Wang, J. Win, C. Lanz, D. Weigel, and S. Kamoun, "Rapid generation of a transgenefree powdery mildew resistant tomato by genome deletion," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 1, 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00578-x.
- [187] Y. Bai et al., "Naturally occurring broad-spectrum powdery mildew resistance in a Central American tomato accession is caused by loss of Mlo function," Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact., vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 30–39, Dec. 2008, doi: 10.1094/MPMI-21-1-0030.
- [188] M. Humphry, A. Reinstädler, S. Ivanov, T. Bisseling, and R. Panstruga, "Durable broadspectrum powdery mildew resistance in pea er1 plants is conferred by natural loss-of-function mutations in PSMLO1," *Mol. Plant Pathol.*, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 866–878, Dec. 2011, doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2011.00718.x.
- [189] S. Pessina *et al.*, "Knockdown of MLO genes reduces susceptibility to powdery mildew in grapevine," *Hortic. Res.*, vol. 3, Apr. 2016, doi: 10.1038/hortres.2016.16.
- [190] Z. Zheng et al., "Loss of Function in Mlo Orthologs Reduces Susceptibility of Pepper and Tomato to Powdery Mildew Disease Caused by Leveillula taurica," PLoS One, vol. 8, no. 7, p. 70723, Jul.

2013, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070723.

- [191] R. Büschges *et al.*, "The Barley Mlo Gene: A Novel Control Element of Plant Pathogen Resistance," *Cell*, vol. 88, no. 5, pp. 695–705, Mar. 1997, doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81912-1.
- [192] M. Humphry, C. Consonni, and R. Panstruga, "mlo-based powdery mildew immunity: Silver bullet or simply non-host resistance?," *Molecular Plant Pathology*, vol. 7, no. 6. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 605–610, Nov. 01, 2006, doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2006.00362.x.
- [193] K. Sun et al., "Silencing of DND1 in potato and tomato impedes conidial germination, attachment and hyphal growth of Botrytis cinerea," BMC Plant Biol., vol. 17, no. 1, p. 235, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1186/s12870-017-1184-2.
- [194] Z. Zheng et al., "Loss of Function in Mlo Orthologs Reduces Susceptibility of Pepper and Tomato to Powdery Mildew Disease Caused by Leveillula taurica," PLoS One, vol. 8, no. 7, p. e70723, Jul. 2013, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070723.
- [195] G. Andolfo et al., "Evolutionary conservation of MLO gene promoter signatures," BMC Plant Biol., vol. 19, no. 1, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1186/s12870-019-1749-3.
- [196] Q. Shen, J. Zhao, C. Du, Y. Xiang, J. Cao, and X. Qin, "Genome-scale identification of MLO domain-containing genes in soybean (Glycine max L. Merr.)," *Genes Genet. Syst.*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 89–98, 2012, doi: 10.1266/ggs.87.89.
- [197] J. Clevenger et al., "RNA Sequencing of Contaminated Seeds Reveals the State of the Seed Permissive for Pre-Harvest Aflatoxin Contamination and Points to a Potential Susceptibility Factor," vol. 8, no. 11, p. 317, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.3390/TOXINS8110317.
- U. Rescher and V. Gerke, "Annexins Unique membrane binding proteins with diverse functions," *Journal of Cell Science*, vol. 117, no. 13. J Cell Sci, pp. 2631–2639, Jun. 01, 2004, doi: 10.1242/jcs.01245.
- [199] R. Ben Saad, W. Ben Romdhane, A. Ben Hsouna, W. Mihoubi, M. Harbaoui, and F. Brini, "Insights into plant annexins function in abiotic and biotic stress tolerance," *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, vol. 15, no. 1. Taylor & Francis, Jan. 02, 2020, doi: 10.1080/15592324.2019.1699264.
- [200] N. C. Collins *et al.*, "SNARE-protein-mediated disease resistance at the plant cell wall," *Nat.* 2003 4256961, vol. 425, no. 6961, pp. 973–977, Oct. 2003, doi: 10.1038/nature02076.
- [201] L. Eschen-Lippold *et al.*, "Activation of defense against Phytophthora infestans in potato by down-regulation of syntaxin gene expression," *New Phytol.*, vol. 193, no. 4, pp. 985–996, Mar. 2012, doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.04024.x.
- [202] K. Sun *et al.*, "Silencing susceptibility genes in potato hinders primary infection with Phytophthora infestans at different stages," *Hortic. Res.*, vol. 9, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1093/hr/uhab058.

- [203] J. Zhang et al., "SICML55, a novel Solanum lycopersicum calmodulin-like gene, negatively regulates plant immunity to Phytophthora pathogens," Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam)., vol. 299, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2022.111049.
- [204] J. Ton, V. Flors, B. M.-M.-T. in plant science, and undefined 2009, "The multifaceted role of ABA in disease resistance," cell.comJ Ton, V Flors, B Mauch-ManiTrends plant Sci. 2009•cell.com, Accessed: Nov. 29, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.cell.com/trends/plantscience/fulltext/S1360-1385(09)00119-8.
- [205] X. Li *et al.*, "A Candidate Secreted Effector Protein of Rubber Tree Powdery Mildew Fungus Contributes to Infection by Regulating Plant ABA Biosynthesis," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 11, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.591387.
- [206] S. Ulferts, R. Delventhal, R. Splivallo, P. Karlovsky, and U. Schaffrath, "Abscisic acid negatively interferes with basal defence of barley against Magnaporthe oryzae," *BMC Plant Biol.*, vol. 15, no. 1, p. 7, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1186/s12870-014-0409-x.
- [207] M. Jiang, J. Z.- Plant, C. & Environment, and undefined 2003, "Cross-talk between calcium and reactive oxygen species originated from NADPH oxidase in abscisic acid-induced antioxidant defence in leaves of maize seedlings," Wiley Online Libr. Jiang, J ZhangPlant, Cell Environ. 2003 • Wiley Online Libr., vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 929– 939, Jun. 2003, doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3040.2003.01025.x.
- [208] K. J. Schreiber, J. A. Hassan, and J. D. Lewis, "Arabidopsis Abscisic Acid Repressor 1 is a susceptibility hub that interacts with multiple Pseudomonas syringae effectors," *Plant J.*, vol. 105, no. 5, pp. 1274–1292, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1111/tpj.15110.
- [209] Y. Peng, J. Yang, X. Li, and Y. Zhang, "Salicylic Acid: Biosynthesis and Signaling," Annual Review of Plant Biology, vol. 72. Annu Rev Plant Biol, pp. 761–791, Jun. 17, 2021, doi: 10.1146/annurevarplant-081320-092855.
- [210] T. Gaffney *et al.*, "Requirement of Salicylic Acid for the Induction of Systemic Acquired Resistance," *Science (80-.).*, vol. 261, no. 5122, pp. 754–756, Aug. 1993, doi: 10.1126/science.261.5122.754.
- [211] K. Zhang, R. Halitschke, C. Yin, C. J. Liu, and S. S. Gan, "Salicylic acid 3-hydroxylase regulates Arabidopsis leaf longevity by mediating salicylic acid catabolism," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 110, no. 36, pp. 14807–14812, Sep. 2013, doi: 10.1073/pnas.1302702110.
- [212] Y. J. Zhang et al., "S5H/DMR6 encodes a salicylic acid 5-hydroxylase that fine-tunes salicylic acid homeostasis," *Plant Physiol.*, vol. 175, no. 3, pp. 1082–1093, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.1104/pp.17.00695.
- [213] J. N. Tripathi, V. O. Ntui, T. Shah, and L. Tripathi, "CRISPR/Cas9-mediated editing of DMR6 orthologue in banana (Musa spp.) confers enhanced resistance to bacterial disease," *Plant*

Biotechnol. J., vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 1291–1293, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1111/pbi.13614.

- [214] D. P. de Toledo Thomazella et al., "Loss of function of a DMR6 ortholog in tomato confers broad-spectrum disease resistance," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., vol. 118, no. 27, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1073/pnas.2026152118.
- [215] B. Liang et al., "Salicylic Acid Is Required for Broad-Spectrum Disease Resistance in Rice," Int. J. Mol. Sci., vol. 23, no. 3, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.3390/ijms23031354.
- [216] A. K. Neelakandan et al., "Application of CRISPR/Cas9 System for Efficient Gene Editing in Peanut," Plants, vol. 11, no. 10, p. 1361, May 2022, doi: 10.3390/plants11101361.
- [217] K. Hua, X. Tao, F. Yuan, D. Wang, and J. K. Zhu, "Precise A·T to G·C Base Editing in the Rice Genome," *Molecular Plant*, vol. 11, no. 4. pp. 627–630, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.molp.2018.02.007.
- [218] Y. Hong et al., "A SSR-based composite genetic linkage map for the cultivated peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) genome," *BMC Plant Biol.*, vol. 10, p. 17, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-10-17.
- [219] S.-Y. Hong, L. Roze, and J. Linz, "Oxidative Stress-Related Transcription Factors in the Regulation of Secondary Metabolism," *Toxins (Basel).*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 683–702, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.3390/toxins5040683.
- [220] P. Soni *et al.*, "Global transcriptome profiling identified transcription factors, biological process, and associated pathways for pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination in groundnut," *J. Fungi*, vol. 7, no. 6, p. 413, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.3390/jof7060413.
- [221] C. juan Li, Y. Liu, Y. xiong Zheng, C. xia Yan, T. ting Zhang, and S. hua Shan, "Cloning and characterization of an NBS-LRR resistance gene from peanuts (Arachis hypogaea L.)," *Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol.*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 70–75, Oct. 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.pmpp.2013.07.006.
- [222] H. Wang et al., "Comparative transcript profiling of resistant and susceptible peanut post-harvest seeds in response to aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus," BMC Plant Biol., vol. 16, no. 1, p. 54, Dec. 2016, doi: 10.1186/s12870-016-0738z.
- [223] H. Song et al., "Identification of lipoxygenase (LOX) genes from legumes and their responses in wild type and cultivated peanut upon Aspergillus flavus infection," Sci. Rep., vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–9, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1038/srep35245.
- [224] T. Wang et al., "Transcriptome identification of the resistance-associated genes (RAGs) to Aspergillus flavus infection in pre-harvested peanut (Arachis hypogaea)," Funct. Plant Biol., vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 292–303, 2013, doi: 10.1071/FP12143.
- [225] H.-M. Wang *et al.*, "Relationship of Resveratrol Content and Resistance to Aflatoxin Accumulation Caused by Aspergillus flavus in Peanut Seeds," *ACTA Agron. Sin.*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 1875–1883, Jul. 2013, doi:

10.3724/SP.J.1006.2012.01875.

- [226] T. T. H. Dao, H. J. M. Linthorst, and R. Verpoorte, "Chalcone synthase and its functions in plant resistance," *Phytochem. Rev.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 397–412, May 2011, doi: 10.1007/s11101-011-9211-7.
- [227] P. Bhatnagar-Mathur et al., "Comparative proteomics provide insights on the basis of resistance to Aspergillus flavus infection and aflatoxin production in peanut (Arachis hypogea L.)," J. Plant Interact., vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 494–509, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1080/17429145.2021.1995058.
- [228] Z. Wang, S. Yan, C. Liu, F. Chen, and T. Wang, "Proteomic analysis reveals an aflatoxin-triggered immune response in cotyledons of arachis hypogaea infected with aspergillus flavus," J. Proteome Res., vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 2739–2753, May 2012, doi: 10.1021/pr201105d.
- [229] L. X. Qiao, X. Ding, H. C. Wang, J. M. Sui, and J.-S. Wang, "Characterization of the β-1,3-glucanase gene in peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) by cloning and genetic transformation," *Genet. Mol. Res.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1893–1904, 2014, doi: 10.4238/2014.March.17.17.
- [230] J. C. Fountain *et al.*, "Proteome analysis of Aspergillus flavus isolate-specific responses to oxidative stress in relationship to aflatoxin production capability," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–14, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21653x.
- [231] B. Guo *et al.*, "Peanut gene expression profiling in developing seeds at different reproduction stages during Aspergillus parasiticus infection," *BMC Dev. Biol.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–16, Feb. 2008, doi: 10.1186/1471-213X-8-12.
- [232] P. Wang et al., "Genome-wide dissection of the heat shock transcription factor family genes in arachis," Front. Plant Sci., vol. 8, no. FEBRUARY, p. 106, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.00106.
- [233] L. Federici, A. Di Matteo, J. Fernandez-Recio, D. Tsernoglou, and F. Cervone, "Polygalacturonase inhibiting proteins: Players in plant innate immunity?," *Trends Plant Sci.*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 65–70, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2005.12.005.
- M. Luo *et al.*, "Microarray-based screening of differentially expressed genes in peanut in response to Aspergillus parasiticus infection and drought stress," *Plant Sci.*, vol. 169, no. 4, pp. 695–703, Oct. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2005.05.020.
- [235] G. K. Pandey, J. J. Grant, Y. H. Cheong, B. G. Kim, L. Li, and S. Luan, "ABR1, an APETALA2-domain transcription factor that functions as a repressor of ABA response in Arabidopsis," *Plant Physiol.*, vol. 139, no. 3, pp. 1185–1193, Nov. 2005, doi: 10.1104/pp.105.066324.